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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
I am pleased to present my sixth report
as Chair of the Board of Directors of
Communities@Work.
The Board for 2009–10 was elected at the
Annual General Meeting in September 2009.
It comprised (in addition to myself as Chair
and Public Officer) Archie Tsirimokos (Deputy
Chair), Alan Hodges (Chair, Finance and Audit
Committee), Jill Robilliard, Maureen Cane
(Company Secretary and CEO), A. John Turner,
Clinton White, Lynne Harwood and Mike
Sullivan. Biographical information on the Board
is provided at Appendix A.
The Board met eleven times during 2009–10,
once in each calendar month with the
exception of February 2010. Realising that
achieving a quorum would not be possible due
to the absence from Canberra of several Board
members, the Board decided to cancel the
February meeting. However, the executive staff
still prepared Key Performance Indicator and
operational reports for that month, which were
presented to the Board at the March meeting.
The Finance and Audit Committee met twelve
times during 2009–10, once in each calendar
month. At its September meeting, the Board
agreed to the nomination of Lynne Harwood to
the Committee.
In July, the Board reviewed the role of the
Board committee responsible for oversight of
the implementation of our food rescue initiative,
OzHarvest Canberra. The Board noted with
thanks the leadership of Jill Robilliard as Chair
of the Committee, the participation of A. John
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Turner and the contribution of community
members co-opted to the Committee: Major
Bob Garven of The Salvation Army; Mr Paul
Butler, President, Chefs Network; Ms Fiona
Mitchell, Education Manager Culinary Programs
at the Canberra Institute of Technology;
and Ms Perry Sperling, Policy Adviser,
Australian Medical Association. The Board
congratulated the Committee for its work and
decided OzHarvest Canberra had reached an
operational level allowing for the Committee to
be disbanded.
In line with the Board Calendar contained in
its Corporate Governance Charter, the Board
reviewed and endorsed the organisation’s Risk
Management and Business Continuity policies
and plans, draft and final budgets and Key
Performance Indicators for the CEO.
The Board acknowledges receipt of
professional advice provided to the organisation
on various topics throughout the year from our
auditors, Hardwicke’s Chartered Accountants,
from our insurers, Guild Insurance, and
from Chamberlain’s Law Firm and Meyer
Vandenberg Lawyers.

DEVELOPMENT OF COMMUNITY
FACILITIES
During the year considerable progress was
achieved on two building proposals initially put
forward to the ACT Government by the Board
during 2008–09 as an investment in Canberra’s
social fabric.
One of the proposals concerned the
establishment of a facility for the Tuggeranong
55 Plus Club. Following consideration by the
ACT Government of three possible sites, the
Minister for Disability, Housing and Community
Services, Joy Burch, announced on 14 January
2010 that a site in Greenway on the foreshore
of Lake Tuggeranong had been chosen.
Minister Burch commented that ‘this new club
will offer a range of events and activities for
older residents. The Club will be designed to
enhance the social, sporting and cultural lives
of seniors in the Tuggeranong region.’ By the
end of the financial year significant progress
had been achieved by the ACT Government in
the creation of the facility’s design and in formal
consideration of a Development Application.
Our second proposal, an eligibility application
for the direct sale of land for community
services purposes in Weston Creek, received
approval in principle by the ACT Government
in December 2009. During 2010, we have
been in consultations with the Government
on identifying a block of land suitable for our
requirements. We look forward to concluding
these consultations in the new financial year.

MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS
During the year the Board maintained an active
interest in the many Government policy and
program reviews being undertaken relevant to
the community sector. We noted the potential
impact of recommendations arising from the
Productivity Commission’s report Contribution
of the Not for Profit Sector, published in
February 2010, and the Henry Review into
Australia’s future taxation system published in
May 2010.
We were pleased in March 2010 to become
a signatory to the National Compact, a
partnership agreement between the Not for
Profit sector and the Australian Government
aimed at improving the way the two work
together for the benefit of all Australians.
The Board strongly supported Communities@
Work’s participation in consultations arranged
by the Australian Government regarding
new quality standards for children’s services,
including those relating to the Regulation
Impact Statement for Early Childhood
Education and Care Quality Reforms published
in July 2009. Later in the financial year, as part
of budget preparations for 2010–11, although
concerned about the additional cost, the Board
endorsed an approach to the recruitment,
training and retention of staff designed to
ensure Communities@Work’s early alignment
with the Australian Government’s new National
Quality Standard and Rating Framework.

Board of Director’s Report
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Left to right: Steve Johnston,
Head of Canberra Office,
Macquarie Group, John
Turner, Communities@Work
Chair and Stephen Moore, CA
Technologies Brumby

During the year we were delighted to be
advised by the Australian Government of the
continuation of our SuperGrands and Respite
Options ACT programs and as the year
progressed we noted the ACT Government’s
intended service delivery changes to the Family
Support and Youth Services programs.
The Australian Government’s financial
stimulus policy had a beneficial impact on
Communities@Work. Funding under the
Department of Education, Employment and
Workplace Relations Investing in Community
Education and Training element of the Teaching
and Learning Capital Fund for Vocational
Education and Training program allowed us to
completely refurbish an area of the Tuggeranong
Community and Function Centre to make way
for an excellently-appointed training room
for NuSkills Learning and Development. The
funding also provided for a substantial upgrade
of equipment in the Centre’s largest meeting
room. The Jetty Café, also located at the
Tuggeranong Community and Function Centre,
received a complete makeover as part of works
undertaken in community facilities by the ACT
Government. The Tuggeranong Youth Centre
and several of our child care centres were also
upgraded.

6
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OZHARVEST CANBERRA
The Board was gratified by the widespread
support for OzHarvest Canberra across our
community. For example, in December 2009
we were glad to receive a second refrigerated
van in time for Christmas, courtesy of wonderful
support from the Calwell and Wanniassa
Community Bank® Branches of Bendigo
Bank.
We were also delighted to be the No.1 Charity
Partner of the CA Technologies Brumbies during
the rugby union season in 2010. We appreciated
the many volunteer hours donated ‘on the vans’
by Brumbies players, officials and staff. We were
also very grateful for their attendance at several
events, including our major Food for Thought
fundraising dinner at the Canberra Institute of
Technology on 9 June 2010.
Underscoring the partnership, The Macquarie
Group made a Macquarie Edge Pledge,
pledging to donate $500.00 to OzHarvest
Canberra for every try scored by the CA
Technologies Brumbies during the season.
Service One pledged $200.00 for every goal
kicked.
The highlight of the year came on 1 May 2010
at the home game played at Canberra Stadium
against the Brisbane Reds. During play the
public address system described ‘our team’ as
the OzHarvest Canberra Brumbies and in an
extraordinary act of generosity CA Technologies
allowed us to swap their CA branded jerseys for
OzHarvest Canberra jerseys.

CONGRATULATIONS FOR ORDER
OF AUSTRALIA AWARDS

FAREWELL AS CHAIR OF THE
BOARD

A feature of OzHarvest Canberra is the
essential role played by a large team of
enthusiastic volunteers, without whose
dedication it would not be possible to keep the
wheels turning.

This is my final report as Chair of the Board
as it is my intention to step aside at the next
Annual General Meeting. However, I will be
pleased to continue my involvement with the
organisation’s future through providing advice
and support to the Board’s Infrastructure
and Assets Committee, as it oversights the
development of facilities for the community.

Communities@Work is profoundly grateful for
such volunteer support, which we enjoy across
many of our community services.
This leads me to express the Board’s great
pleasure in the achievement of a special
volunteer couple, John and Beryl Fillery, who
received Order of Australia Medals in the 2010
Queen’s Birthday honours.
John and Beryl work as a team, supporting
several not for profit organisations, including
Communities@Work. They are often seen
early in the morning at our child care centres
performing general maintenance work. They
also make wooden toys for children, furniture
for youth and seniors, and undertake friendship
and social visits to people in need.

I thank all Directors of the Board for their
support during 2009–10 and commend
our Executive team and all managers, staff,
volunteers and carers for their dedication
throughout the year.
John Turner
Chair

The Board is delighted to acknowledge their
contribution to the well being of our community
and to congratulate them on their well-earned
public recognition.

Board of Director’s Report
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REPORT
Katy Gallagher launching
Appletree’s new dining room
2009-10 was marked by innovative
partnerships, successful events and special
achievements, as we implemented the first year
of our Strategic Plan 2009–12.

•

To highlight a few of many productive
partnerships, we:
•

•
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participated in a Didgeridoo Workshop
held during the school holidays in January
2010 in partnership with the Tuggeranong
Child and Family Centre and community
elders. This resulted in 12 local Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander boys making
their own didgeridoos.

partnered with photographic students from
the Canberra Institute of Technology to
produce quality images that ‘tell the story’
of C@W in action

•

successfully set up the stages for the
Youth InterACT Conference in April 2010
with the Office of Children, Youth and
Family Support as part of our ‘Roadies’
youth program, subsequently named ‘Live
Sound Crew’

A further example of a partnership in action
concerned the Tuggeranong 55 Plus Club.
During the financial year Communities@Work
was very pleased to support the Club towards
achieving independence. At a general meeting
on 8 December 2009, Club members agreed
‘to the incorporation of the Club under the
terms of the Associations
Incorporation Act 1991
through adoption of their
own Constitution’. The
significant milestone of
incorporation was achieved
on 21 January 2010.
This was followed by the
signing of a Memorandum
of Understanding
between the Club and
Communities@Work
setting out roles and
responsibilities designed
‘to achieve positive
outcomes for seniors
through the operations of
the Club’.

Communities@Work Annual Report 2009–10

expanded service delivery of the
SuperGrands program through
partnerships with Northside and Southside
Community Services.

We staged two successful conferences during the
year.
In September 2009 the ACT Professional Support
Coordinator hosted the inaugural ACT Children’s
Services Conference, Growing Together, at the Hotel
Realm. Over 160 children’s services professionals
attended.
In March 2010 we sponsored and organised, in
concert with Com-Management, Bring the Back
Office Forward, a conference on finance, IT and
administration practices for the not for profit and
community sectors. Held at the Tuggeranong
Community and Function Centre, over 140
managers and back office specialists attended.
The conference agenda included an item on
Communities@Work’s research report, Potential
Models of Shared Services for Community
Organisations in the ACT. A spin-off from this
conference was the establishment of a Financial
Management Network, organised by Communities@
Work’s Chief Financial Officer with sponsorship from
PricewaterhouseCoopers. The network met for the
first time in June 2010.
Other major events during the year included the
launch in October 2009 of Get Up & Grow: Healthy
Eating and Physical Activity Guidelines for Early
Childhood by the Minister of Health and Ageing,
the Hon Nicola Roxon MP, and the Minister for
Early Childhood Education, Child Care and Youth
and Sport, the Hon Kate Ellis MP. Held at our
Appletree House Child Care and Education Centre,
the Ministers toured the Centre’s new modern and
stylish dining room, meal preparation and education
area, which had been formally opened by the ACT
Treasurer, Katy Gallagher in September.

Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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We were very proud of the special
achievements of staff and volunteers.
In July 2009 our OzHarvest Canberra team
was chosen as the overall winner of the Keep
Australia Beautiful 2009 ACT Sustainable
Cities Awards. Subsequently at the National
Awards held at Parliament House in October,
OzHarvest Canberra achieved a High
Commendation in the Resource Recovery
and Waste Management category. Also
Communities@Work was delighted that the
founder of OzHarvest in Australia, Ronni Kahn,
was named Local Hero in the Australian of the
Year Awards in 2010.
In October 2009 our Occupational Health and
Safety Officer, Annette Shipley, was awarded
the 2009 Safe Work ACT Award for Best
Individual Contribution to Workplace Health and
Safety. Annette had been a key driver in making
Communities@Work the first organisation in the
ACT to receive certification under an initiative
targeted at the community services sector,
funded by the Department of Disability, Housing
and Community Services and implemented
by the ACT Occupational Health and Safety
Commissioner and WorkWatch Occupational
Health and Safety Training. Annette received a
‘finalist’ commendation at the Fifth Annual Safe
Work Australia Awards in April 2010.

10
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As already noted in the Board of Directors’
report, towards the end of the financial year,
we were delighted when two Communities@
Work volunteers, John and Beryl Fillery, were
honoured with Order of Australia Medals.

CORPORATE ADMINISTRATION
2009–10 was marked by Governmentinitiated policy and program reviews across
the spectrum of community sector activity,
by actual and prospective industrial relations
changes, by significant cost pressures at a time
of budgetary constraint and by analyses of the
sector’s role in Australia’s economy, its funding,
governance and efficiency.
By the end of the financial year, the implications
of review recommendations and potential policy
and structural changes remained uncertain.
However, it was clear that governments’
expectations of the community sector
would include a more rigorous approach to
the management of costs and efficiency of
operations.

Against that background Communities@Work
took action to address these expectations. We:
•

organised a tender process for a new
cleaning contract signed in August 2009,
leading to savings of over 17%

•

installed a new telephone system in March
2010, which is planned to save 30% on
previous year’s expenditure

•

undertook a review of the payment of
suppliers with the resulting changes
producing cost savings and increasing the
integrity of the process

•

introduced a flatter management structure
in our Children’s Services Division during
the second half of the financial year, and

•

initiated a new Management Training
and Leadership Development Program
in January 2010 designed to encourage
advanced skills development in leadership
and management.

The Communities@Work
Executive team

I particularly thank John Turner for his wisdom
and steady guiding hand during the past six
years. I am delighted that, as he steps down as
Chair of the Board, he is willing to continue his
association with us through membership of the
Infrastructure and Assets Committee.
I also thank our Executive team, managers,
staff, carers and volunteers for the wonderful
work they do on a daily basis. I look forward
to the coming year, when I am sure we will
continue to partner with our colleagues in the
community sector, with business and with
Governments in the delivery of quality services
to our community.
Maureen Cane
Chief Executive Officer

In taking this action, we received strong
support and encouragement from our Board
of Directors, who I sincerely thank for their
generous giving of expertise and time.

Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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CHILDREN’S
SERVICES

During 2009–10 the Children’s Services Division
operated 11 child care and education centres,
23 before and after school care programs
and 3 school holiday programs, employing
some 245 permanent and casual child care
professionals. We estimate that during 2009–
10 around 2 100 children and 1 590 families
used these services.

and welcome any suggestions given This
undoubtedly is an excellent environment for a
child to grow in and be cared for! I personally
cannot ask for more.”
“… I like it here. You get to play with toys. You
learn how to pack away. The fruit is nice and I
like my teachers.”

Our Family Day Care/In-Home Care Scheme
had around 150 self-employed home-based
carers caring for 1 260 children from 905
families, supported by a coordination team of 6
child care professionals.

What our clients say:
“… At all times, even when I dropped in
unannounced, I found Nissi happy and well
cared for. The staff in the Infants Room not only
offer this great care and time with their utmost
dedication, but also endeavor to engage
parents in a process of continuous feedback

12
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A major focus for the year was the
implementation of the first phase of the
Australian Government’s Quality Reform
Agenda for the early childhood education and
care sector. In particular, the launch of the
Early Years Learning Framework in July 2009
covering new national standards, quality ratings
and streamlined regulatory arrangements,
offered a blueprint for the future of the sector.
One of the Division’s programs, the ACT
Professional Support Coordinator, played a key
role in supporting children’s services across the
ACT to incorporate the principles and practices
underpinning the Framework into their service
delivery.

These services received bookings, call centre
and administrative support from our Division’s
Client Services Centre and Child Care Benefit
teams.
We received excellent accreditation results for
the 6 child care and education centres and
2 School Age Care programs which received
validation visits in 2009-10. All of these services
received high quality ratings.

QUALITY REFORM
AGENDA

In view of the ACT Government’s decision to
more closely align Family Support with Youth
Services programs, responsibility for Family
Support was transferred to the Community
Services Division in July 2009 with the staff
relocating to work out of a refurbished
Tuggeranong Youth Centre in May 2010.
Reflecting this change, the title of the Division
was modified from Children’s Services and
Family Programs Division to Children’s Services
Division.

The Quality Reform Agenda mandates
the acquisition over time of higher level
qualifications for all children’s services staff
and for home-based carers nomenclature,
highlighting their educational role. From January
2014 the minimum requirement for a Child Care
Educator in Centres and home-based carers is
a Certificate lll in Children’s Services.
The Australian Government also committed
to universal access to quality early childhood
education delivered by a 4-year university
trained early childhood teacher, with an
implementation timeframe of January 2014.

With these developments in mind, our Board
of Directors agreed that from February 2009
a trainee who successfully completes the
Certificate III with NuSkills Learning and
Development or other training provider
would be elevated to a Children’s Services
Employee Level 3. The trainees are supported
through their training by the Centre Manager/
Coordinator and a NuSkills facilitator to gain a
solid and grounded skills base.
To increase the pool of university trained early
childhood teachers and in partnership with
Charles Sturt University, we introduced a
University Sponsorship Scheme in November
2009 in time for the 2010 academic year.
At any one time, up to six of our staff will
undertake a higher level of professional
development to improve their skills and practice
which are consistent with the Quality Reform
Agenda. By the end of this financial year, 3 staff
were studying for their degrees in Bachelor Of
Education (Birth to 5 Years).
With respect to the Reform Agenda’s
modifications to staff/child ratios, we
implemented a planned approach to meeting
the new requirements over time, bearing in
mind the practicalities of room size and existing
enrolments.

Children’s Services
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CHILD CARE AND
EDUCATION CENTRES
Our network of 11 Child Care and Education
Centres benefited during the year from
upgrades and maintenance programs funded
by the Department of Disability, Housing and
Community Services. Upgrades included new
carpets, air conditioning units, soft-fall synthetic
grass, landscaping and kitchen refurbishments.
The launch of the Appletree House Child
Care and Education Centre dining room in
September 2009 by the ACT Treasurer Katy
Gallagher was a major highlight. Offering
children a unique learning space to foster
healthy eating, the new dining room inspired
the development of a kitchen garden funded
by an ACT Health Promotion Grant. These
initiatives, coupled with our employment of a
Food and Nutrition Manager, have significantly
enhanced our organisation’s capacity to
encourage children to experience a wide range
of fresh foods, to see how they are grown and
how they are prepared. Next financial year we
intend to introduce kitchen gardens and the
provision of meals in more of our Child Care
and Education Centres.

that my child is being provided with healthy
food choices.”
“… Jessica enjoys her time at Appletree House
and eats well. When the cooked meals were
introduced for lunch, I wondered how she
would go with eating vegetables (as all parents
know, this is not an easy task to achieve).
Now she loves her meals, including a range
of vegetables and usually has second or
third helpings. It has also been great to have
breakfast with her and others at Appletree
House from time to time.”
Another highlight of the year was the 25th
birthday celebration of Richardson Child Care
and Education Centre in July 2009. Attended
by staff and families, past and present,
a special moment for us was when staff
members spoke eloquently about the long
tradition of providing excellent child care and
education at Richardson, with one of them
having been cared for as a child at the Centre
by the other!

A further achievement was being chosen as
one of six organisations in the ACT to have our
child care and education centres participate
in a national two-year program, Kids Matter.
Designed as a collaboration between the
Australian Government’s Department of Health
and Ageing, the Australian Psychological
Society, Early Childhood Australia and
beyondblue: the national depression initiative,
the program assists early childhood services
to plan and implement evidence-based
mental health promotion, prevention and early
intervention strategies, consistent with the Early
Years Learning Framework.

RICHARDSON
COMMUNITY HUB
Richardson Child Care and Education Centre
featured as one of several of our programs
comprising the Richardson Community Hub.
The Hub promotes a multi-agency approach
to support families through offering integrated
service delivery. Other Communities@Work
programs involved are Richardson Family Links,
Parenting Matters and the Family Day Care/InHome Care Coordination unit.
Our Hub partners are Richardson Primary
School and Pre-School, Richardson Support
House and ACT Health. The Tuggeranong Child
and Family Centre also plays a significant role
in delivering services for families accessing the
Hub.
This integrated service model was the subject
of a presentation by our staff at the Asia Pacific
Conference on Child Abuse and Neglect,
hosted by NAPCAN, at the Perth Convention
Centre in November 2009. The model attracted
considerable interest because it brings services
together in successful collaborations. The
services explore and pursue opportunities
which create a positive and improved
community environment and better outcomes
for children and families.
In April 2010, a fire at Richardson Child Care
and Education Centre caused significant
damage, resulting in the centre having to
relocate for a period of two weeks. Thanks
to the collaborative partnerships established
through the Hub, the Centre’s children and staff
were temporarily housed at Richardson PreSchool, ensuring minimal disruption to families.

What our clients say:
“… Charli is expanding her food experiences
now that the Centre is providing lunch. It’s
great to not have to worry about what to pack
for lunch but still be secure in the knowledge

14
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Senator Gary Humphries and Steve
Doszpot MLA enjoying morning tea at
Richardson’s 25th birthday

Children’s Services
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RICHARDSON FAMILY
LINKS
The Richardson Family Links project is now
in its 7th year. Funded by the Australian
Department of Families, Housing, Community
Services and Indigenous Affairs, the project is
designed to provide intensive and coordinated
support to parents and children who are
vulnerable, at risk or in disadvantaged
communities, to improve child development,
child safety and family functioning.
During 2009-10, some 210 families and
children participated in Links activities, which
included some engaging and creative new
programs, workshops and resources for
children and families, developed in partnership
with other agencies and individuals.
For example, the Didgeridoo Workshop held
during the school holidays in January 2010
provided an opportunity for 12 Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander boys living in the
Tuggeranong area to learn how to make their
own didgeridoos. Through a partnership
between the Tuggeranong Child and Family
Centre and community elders, the boys learned
wood working skills and explored their culture
and creativity.

Other initiatives for 2009-10 included:
•
•
•

‘Empowerment and Creativity Workshops
for Women’ in the local area
‘Sing & Grow’ – a music therapy program
for parents and carers with children from
birth to three years
‘A Taste of the World’ – a multicultural
programming tool for child care educators

Individuals who participated in these initiatives
provided feedback on the value of the program
in terms of increased self esteem, confidence
and the ability to build positive relationships.

SCHOOL AGE CARE
The growth in school age care experienced last
financial year continued during 2009-10. We
added Chisholm After School Care program,
making 15 After School Care Programs in total,
and maintained 3 school holiday programs.
Due to a reduction in demand, we closed the
Before School Care program at Conder and
we maintained a watching brief on a similar
situation developing at Duffy Primary School.
Overall, we cared for around 1 150 children in
after school care on a daily basis.
The recruitment and training of our staff team
was a significant focus during the year. 55 staff
completed a new orientation training program,
6 completed their Certificate III in Children’s
Services and 3 achieved the Diploma of
Children’s Services. In addition to qualifications
training, our staff undertook professional
development encompassing occupational
health and safety, children’s services regulatory
requirements, programming, and behaviour
guidance topics specific to school age care.
Condor, Duffy and Gilmore programs continued
to be participants in the ACT Government’s
Children’s Policy and Regulation Unit trials of
the inclusion of preschool children in school
age care programs. There are six trial sites

16
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across Canberra. Our experience with the
trials has been positive, due to the preschool
programs being located adjacent to the before
and after school care programs.
During the year we reviewed our school holiday
operations located at Burgmann Anglican
College in Gungahlin and St Thomas the
Apostle Primary School and Gilmore Primary
School in Tuggeranong. Towards the end of
the year we decided to amalgamate the two
Tuggeranong programs into one cohesive
and inclusive program, with junior and senior
sections. We look forward to operating the new
program from Monash Primary School in the
new year.
We were pleased during the year that the
Australian Sports Commission’s Active Afterschool Communities (AASC) initiative was
delivered in eight of our programs. The initiative
is designed to engage with children who are
usually non-active or with those not involved in

mainstream sports. Seven of our staff attended
training in the planning and implementation of
physical activities, tailored to the interests of the
children, to encourage life-long participation in
sport.
A fun highlight of the year was the interprogram challenge during Children’s Week in
October 2009. Children and staff from across
our programs met to enjoy an afternoon of
physical activity and mental challenge followed
by a sausage sizzle.
What our clients say:
“… I would like to thank you for the care
provided to Nicholas during his time at Monash
School Age Care and appreciate the friendly
and professional service provided by Joy and
her team. I would be happy to recommend the
program to prospective clients and propose to
utilise the holiday program when required”.

Children’s Services
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FAMILY DAY CARE/IN
HOME CARE
During 2009–10 our Family Day Care Scheme
supported 150 home based, self-employed
carers to provide child care and education to
approximately 905 families and 1 260 children.
We had 32 applicants complete orientation
training to become approved to operate their
own child care businesses. The upward trend
we noticed last year in demand for Family Day
Care from Gungahlin families and the interest
in becoming carers by Gungahlin residents
continued this financial year. As a result, an
additional playgroup began to meet every
Monday at the Ngunnawal Community Centre.
A major exercise during the year was a
comprehensive review of our Scheme, with the
assistance of Com-Management consultancy
and in consultation with managers, staff, carers
and families. The review sought to identify
ways in which operations could be enhanced,
in light of the requirements of the Australian
Government’s Quality Reform Agenda and
because of the overall decline in carer and
children/family numbers, placements and
reduced financial viability. The review led to a
number of recommendations for change which
remained under consideration at the end of the
financial year.

18
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An excellent development during the
year was the large number of carers who
undertook studies with NuSkills Learning
and Development in Children’s Services at
Certificate lll and Diploma level. By the end of
the year, 21 carers had completed Certificate lll
and 9 had achieved their Diploma. In addition,
there was a high level of attendance by carers
at some 60 training workshops delivered
through NuSkills.
Another positive development was the
evolution of a consultation group consisting
of carers, families and staff, originally formed
to provide feedback on business tools for
carers. The group is now taking a more general
representative role, providing advice and
feedback on policies and procedures, initiatives
and general issues of interest to Scheme
stakeholders.
How our carers feel:
“... It was our saddest day when we found out
Abbi would no longer be in our care. She had
been a part of our every waking hour for almost
a year. More so, she has made us feel a part
of your family. I have sung songs, danced and
acted with the children and she was always the
most responsive child in my care. I have seen
her grow physically, emotionally, socially and
intellectually through the days and months in
my care. It has been so fulfilling on my part”.

PARENTING MATTERS
Parenting Matters assists families towards a
better understanding of children’s behaviour,
from the simple through to the complex, by
focusing on the dynamics of positive parent/
child relationships. During the year, some 143
families received individual parenting support
and 126 attended various training sessions.
Productive partnerships with other programs,
such as Kidsafe and Family Support, meant we
could offer useful drop-in sessions on familyrelated issues.
Over the past year we have sought to
familiarise the community with Parenting
Matters’ new name and capitalise on our
Richardson location through accessing a
broader referral base. We have established
ourselves within the local Richardson
Community Hub and trained new staff through
professional development opportunities.
Playgroup changed its location to a more child
friendly environment with access to an outside
play area and continues to operate during
most school holidays. Over the past year, 426
parents/carers and 681 children attended.

of our long-running programs, the Managing
Children Program. Based on the findings of the
review, we discontinued this Program, turning
our focus to more contemporary approaches,
such as the Positive Parenting Program.
Parenting Matters delivered 5 parent
information sessions to 27 participants on a
range of parenting topics over the past twelve
months. Families attending the sessions
provided valuable feedback on the positive
impact the sessions had on their parenting
practice and their relationship with their child.
What our Parenting Matters clients say:
“… You have all been extremely supportive
and encouraging and you are wonderful
inspirations. I’m very lucky to know you all”.
“… Thank you for all your help. I think now that
having good relationships with my children is a
possibility”.
“… Wonderful PM! You supported our family
100%. Lots of practical solutions and no
judgements.”

As foreshadowed in last year’s report, we
commissioned an independent review from
Elspeth Humphries, a specialist in early
education, into the theory and principles of one

Children’s Services
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ACT PROFESSIONAL
SUPPORT COORDINATOR
The ACT PSC took a leading role in informing
and advising children’s services in the ACT
about the requirements of the Australian
Government’s Early Years Learning Framework.
This role is consistent with the objectives of
the Australian Government’s Inclusion and
Professional Support Program, under which
Professional Support Coordinators and
Inclusion Support Agencies are funded.

The strategy will be rolled out in July 2010 and
will encompass:
•

A facilitated community consultation event
to determine mechanisms for professional
learning, areas of need and possible
resource development

The Early Years Learning Framework guides
early childhood educators in developing quality
learning programs for children from birth to
five and for their transition to school. It enables
educators, families and communities to work
together to support children’s learning.

•

Sponsorship of four speakers to deliver
professional learning sessions at regional
Out of School Hours Care Association
(OOSHACT) meetings

•

Online learning packages

To ensure a seamless transition, we
incorporated the principles and practices
underpinning the Framework into our existing
programs. We also delivered information
events that were well received by the sector
with over 250 participants attending. Other
initiatives that will carry through into 2011–12
include:

•

Staff meeting packages that incorporate
a “train the trainer” component based
around topics of management and
leadership, partnerships with families, play
based programming, child development
and planning for positive environments

•
•
•
•
•
•

Team Meeting Packages
Train the Trainer sessions for team leaders
Customised workshop sessions
On line fact sheets and resources
In-house consultation with a
knowledgeable mentor or coach
Action learning projects.

STRATEGY FOR SCHOOL AGE
CARE
In response to data gathered from the 2010
annual professional support needs analysis,
and in consultation with the sector, during
the latter half of the year we developed a new
School Age Care strategy. The strategy seeks
to engage school age care practitioners in
professional learning to best meet the unique
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needs of this service type. In particular we will
fill an identified gap in professional learning
through focusing on the needs and issues
relevant to children in the 8–12 years age
group.
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•

School Age Care Play Day mini conference
in early 2011.

GROWING TOGETHER 2009
CONFERENCE
One of the year’s highlights was the staging
of the Growing Together 2009 Conference in
September at the Hotel Realm, attended by
161 delegates from the ACT and interstate.
The conference provided valuable learning and
networking opportunities for educators and
gave them access to prominent early childhood
care and education academics, most notably
keynote speakers Professor Alan Hayes,
Director of the Institute of Family Studies and
Associate Professor Glenda McNaughton from
the University of Melbourne.

Professor Alan Hayes Director of the Institute of Family Studies
delivering the keynote address at “Growing Together 2009”
Delegates gave overwhelmingly positive
feedback for the professional development
opportunities provided by the conference
themes – social inclusion, relationships and
learning, advocacy and action, and leading the
way.

to Practice”. This event showcased the
professional learning and subsequent changes
to pedagogical practice that occurred
throughout the life of the project.

RESEARCH PROJECT

The Out of the mouths of babes research
project is an excellent example of the many
partnerships and collaborations we enjoyed
during the financial year.

Throughout 2009–10, in partnership with
Macquarie University, we delivered an action
research project “Out of the mouths of babes:
What infants and toddlers would tell us if they
could”. The project explored concepts around
what curriculum means in relation to babies
and toddlers; environments which support
relationships and ways in which routines can
foster learning and nurturing relationships.
The project culminated in an event held in
partnership with the Early Childhood Australia
ACT Branch in October 2009 as part of the
professional learning series from “Provocations

OUR PARTNERS

During 2009–10 the ACT PSC was an active
member of the PSC Alliance, representing the
ACT at Alliance meetings held in Melbourne
and Perth. The year saw the ACT’s involvement
in a number of projects to progress the
PSC Alliance strategic plan including the
development of a comprehensive national
professional development strategy for Inclusion
Support Facilitators and the development of
a nationally consistent strategy to roll out the
Early Years Learning framework.

Children’s Services
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During 2009–10 the ACT PSC website
was redesigned to be the first port of call
for children’s services wishing to access
information and resources. A new element of
the website is the ACT PSC InfoHUB, designed
in response to requests from children’s services
needing an easier way to access up-to-date
resources. The InfoHUB includes an on-line
borrowing facility to enable members to borrow
resources seven days a week, posted directly
to their service.
We acknowledge the hard work and dedication
demonstrated by Professional Support Services
Providers in helping to meet the outcomes and
goals of the ACT PSC.
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Great Hall, Parliament House in October 2010
and in the implementation of the range of PSC
initiatives in the coming year.

INCLUSION SUPPORT
AGENCY
During 2009–10 our team of seven experienced
Inclusion Support Facilitators continued to
support 110 early childhood centres, 97 school
age care programs and 5 Family Day Care
Schemes to provide inclusive and responsive
early learning environments for children.

We would like to give special acknowledgment
to the members of the ACT PSC Advisory
Group for their continued support during the
financial year, in particular for their interest and
advice in the staging of the Growing Together
2009 Conference.

Over the year Inclusion Support Facilitators
have worked collaboratively with children’s
services and have completed over 300
applications for both short and long term
funding to support educators to provide
inclusive environments and programs for
children.

We look forward to continuing this productive
relationship as we prepare for the staging of
the ACT Children’s Services Awards in the

This funding provides a contribution to services
to employ an additional staff member in their
team to provide flexible, responsive programs
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that meet the needs and interests of all children
including those with high ongoing support
needs. In some cases the funding has allowed
services to replace staff so they can attend
meetings with Early Intervention staff and
other allied health professionals to assist in
planning for consistent care and education
environments.

which leads to meaningful communication and
partnerships with the children in our service.”

SCHOOL AGE CARE TRIAL

RETHINKING IMAGES OF
INCLUSION

Building on the success of last year’s school
age care trial, the ISA has continued to offer
this strategy with four more school age care
programs across the ACT. The trial was
designed to link services with an Autism
Consultant and Special Educator to facilitate
the development of inclusive practice in school
age care settings. One service provider who
accessed this support commented:
“This process has assisted us to plan for the
needs of all children and we now feel confident
we have developed more strategies to ensure
consistent, inclusive practices throughout our
service. It has also helped staff to view children
differently and think from their perspective

This strategy has demonstrated its
effectiveness in changing practice and building
partnerships between educators, children and
families and will be an ongoing strategy in a
suite of services offered by the ISA.

As foreshadowed in last year’s Annual Report,
we launched Rethinking Images of Inclusion
at the Growing Together 2009 Conference in
September.
Based on a series of posters and resource
sheets, accompanying picture book and
discussion forums, this comprehensive
resource for children’s services conveys the
message that inclusion equates to relationships
between people. Inclusion is demonstrated
through all our interactions with children,
families and colleagues.

Children’s Services
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This resource has proven valuable to
our Inclusion Support Facilitators in
the engagement of individual educators and
staff teams in professional conversations about
inclusion and child/staff relationships.

The research is designed to explore

INCLUSION SUPPORT
FACILITATOR PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

•

Recognising the high level of skills and
knowledge required by Inclusion Support
Facilitators to fulfill their complex and
demanding role, we invested this year in a
project to explore their professional identities.
“Five ways to get anywhere in Canberra”
examines, through an action research
methodology, the complex professional
understandings required for success in the role
of Inclusion Support Facilitator.

•
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•
•
•

•

Establishing and articulating a knowledge
base of theory and practice
Explicit practices of ‘critical reflection’
Expressing personal/professional tensions
in undertaking the work of an ISF
Developing a deep understanding of
capacity building in theory and practice
Articulating personal/professional
philosophies and a rationale for them and
Piecing together a contextually specific set
of outcomes for children, families and staff
in children’s services.

Supported by an academic mentor at monthly
meetings, the team worked with learning
resources such as readings, reflective writing,
and evaluation processes. The project includes
four phases to map the action learning process
and create a framework for creating change.
By the end of the financial year the project
was half completed. On its completion, we

envision that Facilitators will be able to share
their learnings through their everyday work
with educators in children’s services as well
as on a broader level with the sector through
conference presentations. The project will be
documented along the way, culminating in a
report and a number of published articles in
early childhood journals and publications that
highlight the benefits of a culture of inquiry and
critical reflection in the workplace.

vision for inclusion support and to identify
opportunities for sector innovation, sharing of
good practice and professional development.

ESTABLISHMENT OF NATIONAL
ALLIANCE

The ISA Alliance met for a second time in Perth
in May 2010 and conducted another productive
meeting with a focus on developing strategies
and practice that evaluate the positive
impact the inclusion support program has on
supporting inclusive environments for children.

A welcome development during the year
was the establishment of a National Inclusion
Support Agency Alliance, with representatives
from each State and Territory coming together
twice-yearly.

We were very pleased to host the inaugural
meeting of the Alliance at Old Parliament House
in November 2009. Participants outlined their
jurisdictions’ specific needs and strengths,
enabling the group to identify common issues,
share best practice approaches and chart the
future direction and work of the Alliance.

Lee Maiden
Executive Director

Representing 67 regions across Australia, the
Alliance has been set up to develop a cohesive

Children’s Services
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COMMUNITY
SERVICES
The Community Services Division focused
its efforts on meeting the growing demand
for services from all groups in the community
during the year, while updating policies,
procedures and practices.
The Division now has 20 community-based
programs primarily serving the Tuggeranong
and Weston Creek regions. Since 2008,
these programs have been managed by four
sections: Youth Services, Family Support, Aged
Services, Disability and Outreach Services
(including Community Development).
In July 2009 Communities@Work’s training
entity, NuSkills Learning and Development,
moved from the Division to report directly to the
Chief Executive Officer.
Funding for programs has continued to
come through contracts and grants from the
Australian and ACT Governments, as well as
from sponsorships and donations. We have
also benefited from the creation of positive
partnerships with other ACT community service
organisations to undertake joint program
delivery. Total income for the Division was $3.4
million for 2009–10.
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•

The Division strengthened quality of
service delivery through participation in
quality assurance and systems during the
year including:

•

the Results Based Accountability quality
assurance system in Family Support. We
anticipate rolling out this system to other
areas over the next two years
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•

successful completion of an external
Home and Community Care (HACC)
audit and implementation of its
recommendations

YOUTH SERVICES
The Youth Services section works with young
people 12-25 years of age, primarily through
case management and through engagement in
the delivery of social and living skills activities
and events. We also run Fun4Youth, a social
and recreational program for young people
aged 12-21 years with a disability.

•

trial of a new performance development
system with the HACC team

•

implementation of new databases for the
Volunteers and SuperGrands programs

•

commissioning of a new website for
OzHarvest Canberra

TUGGERANONG AND WESTON
CREEK YOUTH CENTRES

•

initial steps in the development of
Communities@Work’s Reconciliation
Action Plan

•

staff participation in toolkit workshops for
good practice standards – ‘Raising the
Standard’ and ‘Cultural Awareness SelfAssessment Toolkit’.

The 2009–10 year has seen a number of
significant changes at both the Tuggeranong
and Weston Creek Youth Centres with a
new team, new ideas and new programs.
The Tuggeranong Youth Centre premises
underwent major refurbishments in the first
half of 2010, including a new kitchen, new
extension, flooring and landscaping. We also
welcomed Family Support to our premises in
May 2010.

The Division has also worked on an integrated
service delivery model, with staff working
across programs to enhance coordination and
direct service provision. This model has been
working particularly well in the family support,
youth and disability areas. We will continue to
develop this integrated practice to ensure a
continuum of care for clients across all target
groups.

The Tuggeranong Youth Centre has continued
to provide an environment in which young
people from a range of diverse backgrounds
are able to engage with each other. Activities
attracting great interest have included: health
and well-being sessions, drumming workshops,
Reptile Inc shows, T-shirt screen printing and
Second Threads (a recycled clothing program).
In conjunction with The Cancer Council’s Live
it up project we revamped the dinner program
and, in consultation with participants, re-named
it Tuggers Table. The young people take part

in healthy meal planning and preparation, while
considering nutrition and its impact on the
body. Tuggers Table also offers a social setting
where young people can share experiences
and make connections while eating together
around the dinner table.

J gets a lot from participating in
Tuggers Table. She is gaining valuable
skills in meals preparation and in how
to choose healthy ingredients within
a budget. J uses the coffee machine,
serving coffee and hot chocolate to
other young people and to the staff. J
shares her life experiences and learns
from others while enjoying nutritious
meals with other young people
experiencing similar challenges.

2009–10 also saw the introduction of
INTOGEAR, a bike repair program at Weston
Creek Youth Centre. The aim of the program
is to introduce young men to the skills of
bike maintenance in a safe and supportive
environment. The workshops include fixing
bikes, liaising with bike owners regarding the
purchase of parts and hands-on lessons in
bike repairs. The program has helped raise
the profile of young men in the community
and highlights the importance of mentoring.
Additionally, the program has allowed positive
community development opportunities with
local businesses.

Community Services
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T is a nineteen year old male participant of the Fun4Youth program, who is living with
deafness. As a result of his participation he engages in other activities, in addition
to his existing strong interest in sport. One of his new activities is participation in the
INTOGEAR program. He has told support staff he really enjoys learning how to fix bikes
and socialising with other young men in a supportive environment.

YOUTH WEEK
Youth Services took part in three major Youth
Week activities.
First, over 200 young people attended the
Youth InterACT Conference in April 2010,
hosted by the Office of Children, Youth and
Family Support at Ainslie Arts Centre. Our
Roadies youth program (now named Live
Sound Crew) successfully coordinated the
public address system and set up the stages
for the Conference.
Second, Jandemarra Wall (JD), Community
Elder of the Monaro Region representing the
Traditional Owners of the area, the Ngarigo
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People, supports Youth Services on an
ongoing basis, facilitated an Indigenous art
workshop with a group of 24 students. During
this workshop JD helped the students create
a piece of art that told their own journey. The
workshop received great feedback and was
greatly enjoyed by all the young people.
Third, we hosted a stall in Garema place,
alongside other youth services. The stall
promoted and showcased the youth services
programs and activities and provided our staff
with a useful opportunity to network with other
services.

FUN4YOUTH
Fun4Youth provides opportunities for
participants to develop and enhance their
social skills and build peer networks while
engaging in recreational activities in an inclusive
social context. All centre-based activities
occur during the Tuggeranong Youth Centre
scheduled Drop-In times and are run in
conjunction with general youth programs. Every
effort is made to conduct activities that nurture
inclusion and assist us in enabling the breaking
down of barriers, challenging of stereotypes
and combating ignorance.
In addition to coordinating recreational and
social activities for program participants,

we have been working towards setting
individual goals and tailoring experiences to
build greater independence and increase the
self determination of each participant. This
is continuously being achieved through the
development of individual action plans.
With the closing of a decade, F4Y has
farewelled many participants who have been
part of the program since its founding. As part
of moving forward with generational change we
designed a new promotional brochure and our
staff attended public forums to raise awareness
of the program. We look forward to the
participation of a new group of young clients in
the coming year.

Community Services

|

29

FAMILY SUPPORT
Family Support covers case work services,
emergency relief, and the SuperGrands
program.

THE JOURNEY – MURAL ART
PROJECT
Following consultation with young people, the
Tuggeranong Youth Centre building is to be
painted with a mural entitled The Journey.

ALL-AGES MUSIC SHOWS
We have continued to successfully present
All-Ages Music Shows. These events offer
young people an opportunity to see live
music performances from local, national and
international bands. The Live Sound Crew
participants have been heavily involved in the
set up and pack down of sound equipment and
have worked alongside professional touring
artists. They have gained valuable hands-on
skills and experience in the technical aspects
of putting on live music productions under the
supervision of industry experts, with the aim of
opening up future employment pathways within
the music industry.
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The Journey is a culturally diverse art project
introducing young people to the
artistic and cultural elements of contemporary
Indigenous life. The mural will represent the
annual migration of the Bogong Moth from
its winter breeding grounds of the East Coast
of Australia to the Snowy Mountains and the
Victorian Alps. The mural is a metaphor for the
journey that young people embark on when
they explore their issues and enhance their lives
by engaging with Youth Services. The mural
will be painted as a collaboration between
the young people with Jandemarra Wall and
Kurt Laurenson, a local artist who has been
instrumental in developing legitimate street art.
Overall, 2009–10 was a year of renewal for
the youth services team, with a number of
new staff joining us and the total upgrade of
the Tuggeranong Youth Centre building. The
team has been committed to taking a fresh
look at the services we offer and the way we
deliver them. To this end, we have placed more
emphasis on listening and consulting with
young people on their needs and incorporating
their feedback into the program design. The
new team keenly looks forward to continuing
to create innovative ways to engage with,
and assist, young people and their families in
Tuggeranong and Weston Creek.

Family Support case work continued to receive
high referral rates and positive feedback
from service users and agencies. During
2009–10 Family Support provided over 4 500
hours of service to some 350 families in the
Tuggeranong and Weston Creek regions. As
a result of the high demand for this service,
Family Support has on average 25–30 families
on the waiting list with a waiting period of 6–8
weeks.
During the year we noted an increase in
clients from culturally and linguistically diverse
backgrounds, refugees, and asylum seekers
requiring assistance with obtaining financial
relief, emergency accommodation and
permanent residency.
We continued our active collaboration with
the ACT Integrated Family Support Program,
the ACT Government’s Care and Protection
service, the Tuggeranong Child and Family
Centre and other service providers. We were
glad to be part of a team of providers working
in partnership with the Office for Children, Youth
and Family Support on the Connecting Families
project, which focussed on early intervention
case management for vulnerable families
notified to the Care and Protection service.
During the year we participated in consultations
with the Department of Disability, Housing and
Community Services on the development of
a new service delivery framework integrating
Family Support with Youth Services. The
Framework focuses on early intervention
strategies; proactive support of vulnerable
children/young people and their families
through strengths-based and solution focused
interventions; and promotion of collaboration
and coordination. We anticipate receiving
further information on the new arrangements in
the coming financial year.
To foster excellence in service provision,
we commenced using a Results Based
Accountability system, to measure quality

assurance and achieve positive outcomes in
the best interests of children/young people
and their families. Performance outcomes are
measured against the following indicators:
children and young people are safe; they are
in strong families with strong relationships;
children, young people and their families are
healthy; and families are connected to their
community. We look forward to evaluating the
results of this new quality assurance approach
in the new year.

EMERGENCY RELIEF
Through the year we supported over 900
families in Tuggeranong and Weston Creek
by administering food vouchers, vouchers
for prescription medications, nappies and
bus tickets. In addition to our ongoing
Emergency Relief funding from the Australian
Government, the ACT Government provided a
supplementary grant under their Financial and
Material Support and Carers Support Fund
scheme. Our Family Support Staff were able
to assist many disadvantaged families and
carers in purchasing essential items such as
beds, heaters, and white goods. In total our
organisation received $340 000, which was a
combination of both funding schemes. Within
a period of 12 months we were able to assist
some 600 families and carers experiencing
financial hardship.
What our clients say:
“… both the hot water system and the
washing machine have been installed. I am so
unbelievably grateful and moved to tears at
your generosity.”
“… I would like you know how thankful I am
for what you have done for me and my family.
The new washing machine is a true blessing.
I would not have known what to do as I did
not have the money for the repairs. Also, with
the gift cards you gave me, I was able to buy
groceries and petrol and with the money that I
saved I was able to get the toilet fixed. Thank
you.”
“… please pass on my extreme gratitude and
relief to all the staff. I am still very overwhelmed
by the generosity.”

Community Services
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SUPERGRANDS
SuperGrands is a family mentoring program
designed to strengthen household and family
management skills in vulnerable families.
Funded by the Department of Families,
Housing, Community Services and Indigenous
Affairs, the program provides the opportunity
for mature volunteers to share their life skills
with young parents and their families.
This program has been primarily operating
for the past few years with families in the
Tuggeranong and Weston Creek areas. We
were delighted to receive advice of continued
funding in May 2010 which has enabled
the program to commence expansion in
partnership with Northside Community Service
and Southside Community Services in the inner
south and northern areas of the ACT.
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AGED SERVICES
HOME AND COMMUNITY CARE
The overall objective of the Home and
Community Care program is to support people
living at home whose capacity for independent
living is at risk, or who are at risk of
inappropriate admission to long term residential
care. A range of services is provided in the
community and in people’s homes for frail older
people, younger people with disabilities and the
carers of both groups. Jointly funded by the
Australian and ACT governments, we received
around $943 600 for this program during
2009–10.
570 new referrals were made to us during the
year, many of whom were assessed as having
high and complex needs. Due to our ongoing
commitment to high quality care, our team

actively collaborated to ensure these clients
were well supported. We also implemented
recommendations from last financial year’s
compliance audit against the National HACC
Service Standards, making some worthwhile
policy and practice changes.
A highlight of the year was a Summer Garden
Party event held on 3 December 2009 in
the Seniors Garden at Weston Creek, to
celebrate the International Day of Persons
with Disabilities. Funded by Disability ACT, the
Party brought together some 50 seniors to
enjoy a chicken and champagne lunch. The
guest speaker, Coralie Wood, highlighted the
benefits of inclusion of people with a disability
in all aspects of life and how those people
had been successful in her own professional
environment. A professional keyboard player,
TJ James, a person with a disability, provided
background music during the luncheon which
was enjoyed by all.

Another highlight of the year was the Seniors
Sports Carnival held at the Mpowerdome in
Fadden on 28 April 2010. Our Centre4Seniors
team trained for the event for six weeks with
enthusiastic help from students from the
Canberra Institute of Technology. Perhaps
because of that, our seniors were the day’s
champions, with members taking out gold in
the wheelchair relay and bocce, silver in the
bean bag relay, and bronze in the men’s javelin.

Community Services
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CLIENT CARE COORDINATION

COMMUNITY TRANSPORT

This service is targeted at clients with complex
multiple problems and disabilities. Our
caseworkers assess needs and construct care
plans so that clients receive services in a timely,
coordinated and appropriate way. We value
clear communication between caseworkers,
clients, service providers and relevant family
members. Our caseworkers also provide
one-off information support to members of the
community on local services to support people
to remain in their own home.

The community transport service continues to
be a lifeline for our new and ongoing clients.
They experience continued independence and
confidence through having transport to medical
appointments, social and community activities
and shopping centres. We also transport clients
to visit relatives who are living in residential
care.

Last year our caseworkers provided nearly 3
450 hours of service.
What our clients say:
“… Thank you for your commitment to care for
both of us. We really appreciated that and also
your gentle manner.”

The service operates with a minimum of three
vehicles on the road each day. We have a
pool of experienced paid drivers and a group
of dedicated volunteers. During the year we
noted a decline in the number of volunteer
drivers, which we are trying to rectify through
advertising and promotion.
A total of 18 440 transport trips were provided
throughout the year.
What our clients say:

“… I really feel like you work and push very
hard to get the best outcomes for my parents
and I am very grateful for it.”

CLIENT SERVICES
This program enables caseworkers to purchase
a package of support services from external
agencies including domestic assistance,
personal care and social support. These
services are generated from client needs and
allow the caseworkers to be responsive to a
client’s immediate high priority needs.
Additional rollover funds injected into this
service during the last twelve months enabled
client requests for new or additional services to
be met.
A total of 2 960 hours of domestic assistance
were provided during the reporting period,
while personal care and social support
provided 320 and 395 hours.
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“… Each driver was so friendly and helpful
and on time. I felt safe while in their care. Each
time they were waiting to collect me. I never
felt hurried; always felt as if each driver cared,
which he certainly did!”
“… What a wonderful service for those who do
not drive and for that I thank you. The drivers
are friendly and courteous. The courtesy
applies to the administrative staff also.”

COMMUNITY MINI BUS SERVICE
This service is funded under the Community
Services Program of the Department of
Disability, Housing and Community Services. It
is designed to improve the social inclusion and
community participation of people who find it
difficult to use the regular bus service or who
have mobility limitations. The community bus is
wheelchair accessible with a hoist at the back

of the bus making it easier for people who are
wheelchair bound to access activities being
held in the community.
Around 3 540 trips were provided during the
year.
What our clients say:
“… The service is absolutely amazing. I am in a
nursing home and wheelchair bound and had
to wait four hours for a taxi. This service solves
this.”
“… The community bus is a fantastic way
for me to access the community. Our group
house hasn’t got a vehicle and has to rely on
expensive taxis. We got to know the community
bus as reliable and punctual. The driver is very
helpful, pleasant and friendly.”

CENTRE4SENIORS
The Centre4Seniors provides a broad range of
social support and structured group activities
to clients in a group based environment. There
is always good food, good conversation and
a good time to be had by all. Every week we
have worked collaboratively with the YMCA to
provide a very effective exercise class which
assists the clients to be more stable on their
feet. Feedback indicates that participants have
experienced better mobility since attending the
program. The group consists of 22 seniors with
an age range between 58 and 97.
A group of eight seniors met each Wednesday
to learn and play Mah-jong and on Fridays
the group has participated in craft activities
including making blankets for Karinya House
for Mothers and Babies, slippers for Mothers
Day gifts, and cards that are also on sale at the
Centre.
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DISABILITY AND
OUTREACH SERVICES

The Centre has a flourishing art group with
hands-on classes presented by a professionally
qualified retired art teacher on sketching,
drawing, shading and learning the art of
painting with water colours. The group’s
paintings are on sale at the Centre.
Excursions were held on a monthly basis
around Canberra such as to the National
Portrait Gallery, Federation Square, Floriade
and the Canberra Yacht Club. Guest speakers
were also invited to the Centre to provide up
to date information on seniors’ health and well
being.
Towards the end of the year the Centre opened
on Mondays to provide social contact and
stimulating activities for clients with dementia.
Discussions are being held with Alzheimer’s
ACT to determine how we can work together
to achieve quality outcomes for the members
of this group.
A total of 10 740 hours of service were
provided during 2009–10.
What our clients say:
“… Thanks to the Centre4Seniors for giving
us the opportunity to participate and for the
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certificates and celebratory morning tea.
Thanks to staff and volunteers.”
“… What would I do without the help I have
received and the welcome I have received.”
“… Independence back. Going shopping on
my own. Helping me to eat my own food.
Going on trips with the bus.”

The Disability and Outreach Services section
has a specific focus on policy issues relating
to disability, mental health and autism,
homelessness and social inclusion. The section
provides support to the CEO in her role on the
ACT National Disability Services Committee
and promotes the formation of positive
partnerships in the sector. The section is
responsible for the delivery of Respite Options
ACT, funded under the Australian Government’s
National Respite Development Fund. A new
HACC-funded program called Connections@
Cooleman commenced in December 2009 in
response to unmet demand in the Weston area
for a living skills and leisure program for adults
aged 25-40 years with a disability. Participants
are involved in group activities and excursions
that promote social inclusion and meaningful
integration into the local community.

The assistance provided by the volunteers at
the Centre is very much appreciated and has
been integral to the success of the Centre.

Outreach Services include the Women’s
Housing Program and OzHarvest Canberra.
These programs have a focus on supporting
those who are disadvantaged or at risk in the
community.

LANYON MEN’S GROUP

RESPITE OPTIONS ACT

An average of 15 men have continued to
meet each Thursday at the beautiful Lanyon
Homestead. The men enjoy each other’s
company and a chat around the fire with
the picturesque Brindabella mountain range
as backdrop. The group work on their own
woodworking projects and make wooden toys.
This year the group prepared wood cuttings
for clients of Communities@Work’s new
Connections@Cooleman program. The group
is supported by dedicated volunteers who have
worked with the group for several years.

Respite Options ACT is a targeted community
mental health service, which provides greater
access to respite options for carers of people
with a severe mental illness or intellectual
disability. A key feature of the program is its
flexibility, tailored to meet the needs of the carer
and care recipient. The options include in-home
support with daily tasks, companionship,
support to attend appointments and outings
and assistance to access centre-based
activities. This service enables carers time to
recover from the stress of daily living and to
balance work and caring responsibilities.

Respite Options ACT is funded by the
Australian Government’s Department of
Families, Housing, Community Services and
Indigenous Affairs under the National Respite
Development Fund. The program works
closely in partnership with Carers ACT and the
Mental Health Foundation to ensure that the
community’s respite needs are met in the best
way possible. Key goals of this service have
been to develop new and innovative respite
options and to increase the availability and
overall capacity to supply respite services for
the ACT in the mental health and autism area.
The program doubled its capacity very quickly
at the start of the year in response to demand
by quarantining a portion of funds for direct
service delivery. Nearly 1 940 hours of respite
was provided to carers during the year.

CONNECTIONS@COOLEMAN
Connections@Cooleman is a new HACCfunded living skills and leisure program in
Weston Creek for adults with disabilities in the
25 – 40 years age group. The program offers
a choice of activities (Monday – Wednesday)
as well as fortnightly excursions and focuses
around building friendships and social
networks. Activities are developed according to
participants’ choice and so far have included
Tai Chi, line dancing, cooking, wood burning,
games, table tennis and trips to Questacon and
indoor bowls. On Wednesdays the group joins
a group of local residents to share conversation
and a meal together at the Weston Creek
Community Lunch which is held at St. Peter’s
Church in Weston. Planning is underway for
a drop-in activity for younger adults in the 19
– 25 age range in collaboration with Weston
Creek Youth Centre.
Since its commencement in December 2009,
the service is now running almost at capacity
with a regular core group of 9 – 10 clients.

Community Services
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WOMEN’S HOUSING PROGRAM

OZHARVEST CANBERRA

This ACT Government funded program
offers medium term supported transitional
accommodation to women and children
escaping domestic violence. The program
operates under the National Affordability
Housing Agreement — the objective of which
is to ensure that all Australians have access
to affordable, safe and sustainable housing
that contributes to social and economic
participation.

The response of the people of Canberra and
Queanbeyan to the OzHarvest Canberra
program continues to exceed all expectations.
Thanks to the generosity of OzHarvest Sydney,
under whose licence deed we operate, this
excellent food rescue program has delivered
over 317 000 meals to people at risk during
2009 –10. During the year, OzHarvest Canberra
rescued over 95 000 kilograms of great food
from being dumped as landfill.

The key goal of this program is to assist
participants into independent living. The
program’s seven houses are fully occupied
with an ongoing waiting list of around 30
families. During the year, five families secured
permanent housing and three women
gained employment. We work closely and
collaboratively with refuges and other services
and provide outreach support as needed.
Positive outcomes include a local school
welcoming new students into the community
and providing high levels of support to the
families — for example, a child being linked
with Pegasus Riding school.

OzHarvest Canberra’s model of operation
is simple. Food that would otherwise be
wasted and end up as landfill is collected from
around 55 food providers and delivered on
the same day by refrigerated van to around
47 shelters, refuges and charities, allowing
them to provide nutritious meals to people
who are disadvantaged. Funds originally
budgeted by these agencies for food can be
redirected to other programs such as training
and rehabilitation. We estimate that since
the service started in February 2008 over $1
million has been saved by charities and refuges
in Canberra and Queanbeyan due to food
deliveries by OzHarvest Canberra.
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The service is provided at no cost to the food
donor or the charities and refuges who receive
the food. Food donors are protected by law
when the food is donated in good faith for
charitable or benevolent purposes, when the
consumer does not have to pay for it and when
the food was fit for human consumption when
it left the possession or control of the donor.
What our food donors say:
“We were one of the first businesses to come
on board and I don’t want to see anyone out
there disadvantaged, so if we can help, we will
and we donate whatever is left over”.
(Jodi Roldan, Owner – Muffin Break,
Tuggeranong Food Court)
“It’s a good charity - it’s better than turfing it all
out and at least it’s going to people who can
use it”.
(Chris Hayne, Owner – Tru Blue Café,
Tuggeranong Food Court)
One of the key developments which enabled
OzHarvest Canberra to grow was the
donation of our second van by the Calwell and

Wanniassa Community Bank® Branches
of Bendigo Bank which has seen our service
expand to levels we could only dream about
two years ago.
An exciting partnership was created with
the CA Technologies Brumbies who named
OzHarvest Canberra as their No. 1 Charity
Partner for the 2010 season. This partnership
helped lift our public profile to a high level and
led to several positive spin-offs.
Funding came from the Macquarie Group
in honour of its Macquarie Edge Pledge,
promising $500 for each try scored by the
Brumbies during the 2010 Super 14 Season.
Service One Members Banking also donated
$200 for each goal/conversion scored. Total
donations from both organisations was over
$27 000.
In addition, Computer Associates (CA) donated
the naming rights for the Brumbies versus Reds
game to OzHarvest Canberra on 1 May 2010.
This saw the OzHarvest Canberra logo on the
players’ jerseys and the footage of the game
was seen around the world!
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Our OzHarvest Canberra staff are engaged and
passionate, and we have a wonderful team of
volunteers, with many others wanting to join us.
Our fundraising efforts have intensified, yielding
positive outcomes. For example, our online
donation facility is receiving more hits, due in
part to advertising donated via Southern Cross
Ten and Prime Television Networks.
What our food recipients say:
“… The clients love to see the yellow van
arrive and the quality of the food is great and
provides variety and some treats as well.
Savings on our food allow us to provide some
additional activities for the adults and the
children, which we would not normally be able
to provide. Thank you.”
(Kim Fleming, Manager,
Karralika Therapeutic Community)
“… Tumladden is so grateful for our new
partnership with OzHarvest Canberra.
Receiving everything from fresh meat and veg
to ready-to-go dinners and tasty treats has
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made a significant difference to the homeless
young people we work with.”
(Tumladden, transitional
accommodation for young people.)
“… After years of frivolous waste while others
went hungry, someone decided to harness the
resource and distribute crisis food where it was
most critically needed. OzHarvest Canberra is
an inspiration and the produce delivered to our
service has been received with gratitude.”
(Allan Collins, ACT Regional Services Manager,
Oasis Youth Services)
“… OzHarvest Canberra has been a godsend
for The Rainbow with its deliveries of wonderful
casseroles, salads, sandwiches and morning
teas. The food is always of a high quality
and the members especially appreciate the
delicious morning teas delivered as they
often cannot afford to buy special treats for
themselves.”
(Mental Health Foundation - The Rainbow)

COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT
The Community Development team has
continued to work with community groups in
the establishment of a number of programs and
events in the Weston and Tuggeranong areas.
One of the major events was the Weston Creek
Community Carnival held on 24 October 2009
in the Cooleman Court precinct. Encouraged
by beautiful weather, the Weston Creek
community enjoyed over 50 information and
market stalls. This year’s event was assisted
by the ACT Government and major sponsors
included Cooleman Court, Richard Luton
Properties and The Weston Club.

A Community Information Hub at Lanyon
Marketplace will commence in July 2010.
This will operate each week on Wednesday
afternoons as a collaborative initiative with
other agencies and services in the region.
Both Hubs will offer a variety of information and
direct access or referral to supports as needed.
These include legal aid, drug and alcohol
services, community transport, parenting
and family support, domestic violence and
homelessness support, youth services and
holiday programs, respite options for carers,
social activities for seniors, living skills for adults
with disabilities, and home and community care
services.

Cooleman Court was also the location for a
new initiative, the Weston Creek Community
Information Hub and Drop-In. Commencing
in April 2010 the Hub provides information
on services to the local community and is a
collaborative effort with Mirvac, Centrelink,
Housing ACT and community agencies
including Home Help and Carers ACT.
Community Services
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Minister Joy Burch, Patron of the Tuggeranong Men’s Shed
During the year we increased our coordination
of inter-agency community networks with
the addition of a Sustainability Network.
Established in June 2009 for groups or
individuals with an interest in sustainability
and the environment, the Network provides
opportunities for information sharing and
mutual learning. We are particularly pleased
that Maxine Cooper, ACT Commissioner for
Sustainability and the Environment will attend
the Network meeting as Guest Speaker in early
July 2010.
Our general Community Networks, which
meet monthly at Tuggeranong and Weston
Creek, continued to flourish, with attendance
averaging 17 at Tuggeranong and 12 at
Weston Creek.
Small community groups supported by
Community Development, such as the
Women’s Neighbourhood Group and the
Singalong Group continue to have strong
participation. These Groups are independent
and require minimal supervision from our staff.
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MEALS PROGRAMS
The Community Meals programs continued
in Tuggeranong and Weston Creek, with the
support of OzHarvest Canberra. Following
the receipt of community feedback, the
Weston Creek breakfast has been replaced
by a Weston Creek community lunch catering
to the broad local community. The lunches
are run by local community volunteers with
oversight provided, as needed, by community
development staff. Around 25 community
members attend each week at both venues.
At Weston Creek, the community lunch group
welcomes an extra 7 or 8 young adults with
disabilities, participants of the Connections@
Cooleman program, who attend a living skills
program located in the same venue at St.
Peter’s Church Weston.

TUGGERANONG 55 PLUS CLUB
The Tuggeranong 55 Plus Club achieved a
major milestone this year when it conducted
its first general meeting to approve the Club’s
Constitution in December 2009 and became an
Incorporated Association on 21 January 2010.
The Club has around 175 members who enjoy
a variety of activities and outings.

On 11 April the Club celebrated its second
birthday with a BBQ in Tuggeranong Town
Park. Special guests at this event were MLAs
Joy Burch, Minister for the Ageing, Steve
Dozspot and Amanda Bresnan. The Club
continues to be based at the Tuggeranong
Community and Function Centre and looks
forward to the building of dedicated premises
in 2011.

TUGGERANONG MEN’S SHED
The Community Development program
continued to support the Tuggeranong Men’s
Shed to develop relationships, build activities
and develop good governance. During the year
‘soft’ activities (eg computers, guest speakers,
photography, monthly BBQs) continued at Lake
Tuggeranong Sea Scouts, utilising the space
as a Tuesday morning drop in. Guest speakers
during the year included the Citizen’s Advice
Bureau, ACT Health, Lifeline, IMB Banking and
Neighbourhood Watch.
In October 2009, an agreement was signed
with the Lions Club of Canberra Inc for
use of their club shed at Kambah. With the
support of Lions, the use of these facilities
has enabled Shed members to extend their

activities to include metal work and woodwork.
Membership numbers increased to 65 and a
toy making group has been established. This
group meets weekly to make toys for those in
need.
In July 2009, members were successful in their
application for an IMB Grant. Communities@
Work auspiced and acquitted the grant on
their behalf at the end of the financial year.
Funds have assisted the Shed to obtain much
needed equipment and resources such as
safety equipment, laptops, tools, promotional
material, and barbecues, as well covering the
cost of IT and First Aid training.
A representative from Tuggeranong Men’s
Shed attended the third National Men’s Shed
Conference held in Hobart in August 2009.
The Conference attracted several hundred
delegates from across Australia and provided
an opportunity for ‘shedders’ to meet one
another, share their experiences and gain
valuable contacts and information.
In late January 2010, Minister Joy Burch
accepted an invitation to become Patron of the
Tuggeranong Men’s Shed.
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VOLUNTEERS PROGRAM
Our volunteer numbers remain high with 217
people working alongside our staff in a variety
of programs. A number of new volunteer
opportunities opened up during the year. These
included working with young adults with a
disability; helping with youth services evening
meals; providing garden maintenance; and
research and administrative tasks in our training
entity, NuSkills Learning and Development.
Throughout the year our volunteers attended
training in a variety of topics of interest and
for professional development. These included
client relationship boundaries, suicide
prevention, food safety and nutrition, safe
manual handling and Occupational Health
and Safety. During the year our volunteer
reference group was reactivated and a group of
volunteers from each area of the organisation
came together as a working group to look
at the new Work Safety Act and identify any
Occupational Health and Safety issues. It is
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envisaged that this group will meet once a year
as part of continuous improvement practice for
volunteer activities.

included the Weston Creek Community
Festival, packing Christmas hampers, ‘Grand
Party in the Park’ during Seniors week,

During National Volunteers Week in May,
Jandemarra Wall joined around 40 volunteers
for a tour of the Emerging Elders exhibition
at the National Gallery of Australia. This was
followed by a special celebratory lunch in our
seniors community garden with Jandemarra as
guest speaker for the event.

Communities@Work stall at the Bus Depot
Markets in March, and the Lifestyle Retirement
Expo in May. In early May, three of our
Community Services Division staff joined our
volunteers to make up a small team to support
the 2010 National Bocce Championships for
people with cerebral palsy with timekeeping
and scoring.

During the week, the 2010 National Volunteer
Awards were announced and we were
delighted that Tanya Mulrine, a volunteer for the
past 6 years received a Highly Commended
Award for Volunteering in the Community
category. Tanya has been a volunteer in various
programs and organisations for the past 20
years and was very proud to be recognised
with this prestigious award.
Volunteers participated in a range of community
expos and activities during the year. These

Social gatherings were held throughout the
year to provide opportunities for volunteers
to meet and get to know each other. These
included a Christmas in July event on 25th July,
attended by 35 volunteers, and regular coffee
mornings which are held each month.

our quality and practice through implementation
of new policies and systems. The key areas of
youth, families, seniors, people with disabilities,
and community development have continued
to be the cornerstones of our business. Our
staff continue to be dedicated and enthusiastic
about delivering services to meet community
needs and we have invested in significant
training in the past year to strengthen
community service practice.
Thank you to the staff and volunteers who not
only continue to deliver high quality services
but who also continually demonstrate caring,
innovation, efficiency and commitment to their
work.
Camilla Rowland
Executive Director

This year the Community Services Division has
focused on developing our programs to ensure
sustainability for the community through an
integrated approach and the strengthening of

Community Services
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NUSKILLS LEARNING
AND DEVELOPMENT
track students’ progress more effectively and
provide us with data on their achievements.
The Men in Care and Education Forum has
been a great success. The forum supports men
working and/or studying in care and education
through a professional development and
networking strategy that encourages men to
engage with and support other males working
in the field. We hope the Forum will encourage
the retention of men in an area primarily femaledominated.

NuSkills Learning and Development has been
positioning itself over the past year to be the
training provider of choice for the children’s
services sector. We have developed strong
links with children’s services, working with
them to develop flexible and consistent training
and development options to meet the sector’s
needs.
We have increased the number of students
engaged in accredited training at Certificate
and Diploma level by over 100% and
attendances at workshops by almost 300%.
We offer tailored and flexible training
arrangements to our students. For example,
we have developed a set of Family Day Care
and Long Day Care assessment tools to meet
individual needs as well as fulfilling service
requirements. Quality in our products is a
priority for us to ensure that students studying
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with NuSkills receive the best possible training
and assessment support by qualified and
passionate trainers and assessors.

In response to changes to the Community
Services training package, NuSkills has
endeavoured to develop a suite of training tools
including for Youth, Foster Care (Residential
and Out of Home Care), Family Day Care
and Centre Based Child Care. Starting with
children’s services, the tools we are developing

will be used to support recognition of current
workplace skills and to identify specific job skills
required.
In recognition of our achievements during
2009–10, NuSkills is a finalist in three
categories in the annual ACT Training
Excellence Awards as Employer of the Year,
Small Registered Training Organisation of the
Year and the ACT Training Initiative Award.
The Awards will be announced in September
2010 and if we are successful in any of the
categories we will compete at the National
Awards in October.
Looking to the future, we are planning to build
on the achievements of 2009–10, to confirm
our training role in the children’s services sector
and expand training options in the community
services sector generally.

We were delighted during the year to move
into a new training centre located in the
Tuggeranong Community and Function Centre.
This state of the art facility allows us to deliver
more tailored workshops with high web-based
and electronic content.
We developed a new Communities@Work
Training Calendar during the year to address
the organisation’s needs for staff to perform
their jobs in a professional and knowledgeable
way. The Calendar was opened to the whole of
the community services sector and we hope to
broaden the scope of the calendar further.
In October 2009 we implemented a new
student management system to allow us to

NuSkills Learning and Development
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STRATEGIC
DEVELOPMENT AND
ADMINISTRATION

The Division experienced a very busy, productive
and exciting year.
Major improvements and enhancements to
our facilities were made possible through
funding support from the Australian and
ACT Governments. Our Information and
Communication Technology (ICT) area
oversaw the replacement of our telephone and
communications systems. This project was the
last major element to be implemented of our ICT
Strategic Plan for 2007–10. A plan for the next
two years has now been developed to build on
these considerable achievements.
An updated staff induction package and new
performance management processes were
developed, and the quality and extent of our
marketing material upgraded.
Events management and fundraising provided
extensive support to program initiatives such as
OzHarvest Canberra.
Further details on achievements and contributions
to Communities@Work’s programs are provided in
the following sections.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT
AND MARKETING
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT
During the year, increased focus was devoted to
analysing strategic issues likely to impact on our
future operations.
A submission was prepared for the Productivity
Commission’s inquiry into the contribution of
the not-for-profit sector, and consideration was
given to the likely impact of the Commission’s
recommendations in respect of the future
governance, funding, taxing and structure of the
community sector.

•
•
•

•
•
•
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•

Effective data management
Structured approaches to fundraising
The potential for new revenue streams
The development of constructive
partnerships
Optimum use of technology for information
sharing and web management.

To help monitor our performance, a report on
our progress against over 40 key performance
indicators (KPIs) was presented to the Board
on a monthly basis. This KPI report provided us
with up-to-date information on client numbers
in our various programs and information on
our financial, human resource and marketing
outcomes.

MARKETING AND
COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY
A three year marketing and communications
strategy was developed to help raise the profile
of C@W and ensure that marketing messages
are relevant and conveyed through appropriate
mediums.
The strategy provides direction for a
comprehensive range of marketing initiatives
including branding, fundraising, community
awareness, website development, advertising,
public relations, promotional literature,
events, data base development, internal
communications and the development of
program marketing plans.

A number of specific issues were considered
to better position the organisation to meet the
challenges of the next few years. These issues
included:

•

48

•
•
•
•

The changing demographics of the
community we serve
Our future infrastructure needs
Changes to early learning strategies and
staff/child ratios in the provision of child care
services
The potential for the development of shared
‘back office’ services
Performance management and development
Structured training programs
The modern awards framework

Strategic Development and Administration
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COMMUNITY AWARENESS
SURVEY
In November 2009, we conducted our second
community awareness survey to ascertain the
level of awareness of C@W in the Tuggeranong
and Weston Creek communities. The research
revealed that there was good awareness of
the organisation, with 58% of respondents
indicating that they were aware of C@W.
Awareness was strongest in the 25–34
years age group and amongst females and
households with children, reflecting the high
profile of our children’s services and family
programs in the region.
The survey revealed a significant increase in
awareness of OzHarvest Canberra and Respite
Options ACT compared with the results of our
2008 survey. The survey also indicated that the
demand for recreational activities for seniors is
likely to increase and that there would appear
to be a significant need for services for people
with disabilities and for people experiencing
mental health and addiction issues, and family
breakdown or relationship issues.

CLIENT SATISFACTION SURVEY
During the year we conducted a survey to
ascertain the level of client satisfaction with
our services. The survey results were most
encouraging, with 84% of our clients indicating
that they are either extremely or very satisfied
with our service. A total of 48% of our clients
gave us a perfect score of 5/5 while a further
35% gave us a score of 4/5.
In particular, 77% of our clients are extremely to
very satisfied with the quality, cost, relevance,
timeliness and assessment referral processes
of our services, while 86% of our clients
are extremely to very satisfied with the skill,
knowledge, respect shown by and listening
ability of our staff.

VISUAL STYLE GUIDE

PHOTOGRAPHIC PARTNERSHIP
To enhance the stock of photographs
available to C@W for promotional purposes,
we entered into a productive partnership with
photography students at the Canberra Institute
of Technology. Students took photographs of
our staff and clients to help ‘tell the story’ of
our work in action. C@W hosted an exhibition
of selected photographs at the Tuggeranong
Hyperdome and purchased from the students
those photographs it wished to use for
promotional purposes.
Students gained practical experience in
producing photographs for a ‘real client’ and
benefited from the sale of photographs as well
as the public profile given to their work. At the
same time, C@W benefited from having access
to high quality and relevant photographs for
marketing purposes.
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Denise Yalda, Senior Manager Finance, The Disability Trust
presents at the ‘Bring the Back Office Forward’ Conference

To ensure consistency in the application of our
brand identity across programs and to help
build brand awareness, we developed a Visual
Style Guide for the organisation. The Guide
provides clear guidelines for the use of the
C@W logo, the integration of the C@W brand
with sub-brands and the use of appropriate
typography, colour palettes and imagery across
a range of marketing materials.
Consistent with the
development of the
style guide, standards
were further enhanced
in the design and
development of
marketing materials. A
range of professional
marketing materials
was developed inhouse including new
corporate brochures,
banners, templates,
advertisements and
events collateral.

EVENTS AND EXTERNAL
RELATIONS
2009–10 has been a most challenging and
rewarding year. We have coordinated over
30 events including two major conferences,
the “Growing Together 2009” ACT Children’s
Services Conference in September 2009 with
160 delegates attending, and “Bring the Back
Office Forward” in February 2010 with over 140
delegates attending.
In 2009 we showcased
Richardson Child Care and
Education Centre at its 25th
birthday in July; celebrated
the 1st birthday of our training
arm, NuSkills Learning and
Development on 2nd September;
and opened a brand new
children’s dining area at Appletree
House Child Care and Education
Centre in September, with
ACT Treasurer Katy Gallagher
officiating and joining in the fun
with the children.

Strategic Development and Administration
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ActewAGL’s Charlie Flask with Maureen Cane, CEO of Communities@Work
In October The Weston Creek Community
Carnival proved yet again to be very popular
and in December, with the support of
ActewAGL, we distributed gifts to over 70
families in the local community.
For the seniors in our community, on the
International Day of Persons with a Disability
on December 3rd 2009, we coordinated a
wonderful luncheon with Coralie Wood as the
guest speaker. This was followed by a “Grand
Party in the Park” during Seniors Week on 10
March 2010, the first combined event with the
four Canberra seniors clubs.
Recognition of OzHarvest Canberra has
grown substantially with a number of events
being coordinated over the past twelve
months – “Shared Lunch” fundraisers took
place in September 2009 and again in May
2010. These were followed by 2nd birthday
celebrations at the National Gallery in March
2010 and then, OzHarvest Canberra was
named as the CA Technologies Brumbies
No. 1 Ticket Holder for 2010. This resulted
in Communities@Work coordinating home
game events and participating in the halftime entertainment. The finalé for Ozharvest
52
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Canberra was a very successful fundraising
dinner and auction on 9 June 2010.
Business Tuggeranong membership has
continued to grow with meetings throughout
the year being held at CentreLink’s Caroline
Chisholm Building, the new Goodwin Village at
Monash and the Tuggeranong Community and
Function Centre.
Over 120 Communities@Work events and
achievements were promoted through our very
positive relationships with the media including
The Canberra Times and The Chronicle. Radio
and television coverage was provided by Mix
106, FM 104, 1206 2CC, 666 AM, Win TV,
ABC, Prime TV, Southern Cross Ten and ABC
Stateline.
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Jayson Hinder, Chairman of the Board for the Wanniassa and Calwell Community Bank®
Branches of Bendigo Bank, presents the new Toyota van keys to the OzHarvest Canberra team

FUNDRAISING &
PARTNERSHIPS
Fundraising and partnership activities focussed
primarily on the ongoing development of
OzHarvest Canberra’s relationships with
external stakeholders.
The partnership between OzHarvest Canberra
and the CA Technologies Brumbies resulted
in increased public awareness and enabled
us to successfully continue to promote this
worthwhile program. Activities included
public collections, a charity mountain bike
ride by Brumbies players, ‘at game’ activities
and partnerships with Brumbies sponsors.
The result was over $55 000 in donations
and very significant local public and media
exposure. Public awareness has resulted in a
steady increase in individual donations to the
OzHarvest Canberra Program.
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Other successes during the past twelve
months included the Calwell and Wanniassa
Community Bank® Branches of Bendigo
Bank contributing a second van to the program
thereby doubling our capacity to save and
deliver food to those in need and the Australian
Institute of Company Directors nominating
OzHarvest Canberra as its benefitting charity
for a Christmas fundraising luncheon resulting
in the donation of some $3 000.
OzHarvest Canberra was also part of the Keep
Australia Beautiful / Australian Sustainable
Cities Awards 2009, winning the ACT Award
and gaining a high commendation in the
National Awards within the Resource Recovery
and Waste Management category.
Discussions were also undertaken with ACT
agencies regarding OzHarvest Canberra’s
contribution to waste management objectives.
In addition to our work on the OzHarvest

Canberra program, a one-day innovation
workshop was also facilitated for C@W
managers aimed at developing new ideas
for programs which could be put forward
and developed into projects to benefit the
community.
The publication and launch of the Shared
Services report, ‘Potential Models of Shared
Services for Community Organisations in
the ACT’ was undertaken in February 2010.
This attracted positive feedback from local
government and the not for profit sector as well
as from researchers in this field.
Research work undertaken in key strategic
areas included:
•
•
•

Communities@Work as a Charity
Web Marketing Strategy
Customer Relationship Management
needs and implementation.

We developed a new youth project, “A Youth
Doco – an Outward Bound Vision”. This
involves partnerships with organisations and
sponsorship from corporate suppliers of
equipment as well as donations and grants.
The total project cost is estimated at $36 000.
Five separate grant applications have also been
submitted in support of this project and are still
pending.
Following discussions, advice was provided to
the ACT Land Development Agency with regard
to their community development activities.
Assistance was also provided throughout
the year to the Children’s Services Division
in respect of developing guidelines and
supporting small scale fundraising conducted
within Child Care and Education Centres and
School Age Care programs.
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Left: Annette Ellis, MP launches the new training rooms with Noel Jensen, Manager NuSkills
Learning and Development. Right: Maureen Cane, Minister Joy Burch and Debbie Campion at the
relaunch of The Jetty Café
Minister Simon Corbell presents Annette Shipley with her Award

INFRASTRUCTURE
AND ASSETS
During 2009/10, Infrastructure and Assets
Management has been involved in supporting
a large range of initiatives for enhancing
our facilities as well as the upgrading of the
maintenance of centres.
A more hands-on approach to minor
maintenance works was adopted, particularly
in the upkeep of child care and education
centres.
The Occupational Health and Safety function
was upgraded during the year to take account
of changes in legislation. More emphasis was
also placed on occupational health and safety
outcomes, including the attention to condition
audits provided by our health and safety officer.
The ongoing maintenance of our centres
and various programs involved an average
of 300 hours per month in areas such as
grounds maintenance, arranging specialist
electrical/plumbing works, minor repairs such
as faulty doors, latches, relocation of staff
and equipment, gardening, painting, moving
furniture/shelving and modifications.
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Initiatives have included:

HUMAN RESOURCES

•

Project management of the upgrade of the
Tuggeranong Community and Function
Centre’s training capability under a grant
from the Australian Government

•

Upgrading of The Jetty Café funded by the
ACT Government

The organisation’s staffing remained steady
throughout the year with successful recruitment
processes and a turnover rate of 15%, slightly
less than average for the community sector.
Total staff at June 2010 numbered 346, of
which 117 were full-time, 140 part-time and 89
casual employees.

•

Upgrades to most centres under
government programs including new
kitchens, carpeting, painting and
landscaping, provision of solar panels and
photo-voltanic cells

The Fair Work Act 2009 commenced operation
on 1 July 2009 which required some minor
changes to operations and an update of the
Human Resources Policies and Procedures
Manual.

•

Relocation of our Family Day Care
operations from Kett Street, Kambah, to
the Richardson Community House

A new Staff Performance Enhancement
Program was developed as a means of
reviewing performance, clarifying job roles,
ensuring alignment of jobs with the Strategic
Plan and identifying future developmental
needs. The program was trialled with staff
in Home and Community Care with positive
results. We propose to roll out the program
across the organisation in the coming year.

•

Relocation of Family Support to the
Tuggeranong Youth Centre

•

Relocation of the Family Day Care
Client Services Unit to the Tuggeranong
Community and Function Centre.

We also provided general advice on
Communities@Work’s major building initiative,
involving an application to the ACT Government
for a direct sale of land in Weston Creek.

In August, the ACT Government released a
discussion paper on a proposed system of
background checking of people working with
vulnerable people. Mandatory background
checking systems for people working with

children have been established or are under
development in all Australian jurisdictions. We
were among the 38 stakeholders to provide a
range of comments on the discussion paper
to inform the Department on a Working with
Vulnerable People checks policy. If the relevant
legislation is passed, checking will be phased in
over a number of years.
In October, C@W’s Occupational Health and
Safety Officer, Annette Shipley, was awarded
the 2009 Safe Work ACT Award for ‘Best
Individual Contribution to Workplace Health and
Safety’. The Award recognises an individual
whose contribution has made an exceptional
difference to health and safety in their
workplace.
Annette’s Award was automatically
submitted for entry in the national Safe Work
Australia Awards 2009 administered by the
Commonwealth Department of Education,
Employment and Workplace Relations. Annette
was presented with a ‘Finalist’ commendation
at the 5th Annual Safe Work Australia Awards
dinner on 28 April.
The ten National Employment Standards
in Division 2 of the Fair Work Act became
effective on 1 January 2010 requiring further
amendments to our policies and procedures.
Strategic Development and Administration
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We added conditions relating to flexible working
arrangements and community service leave
and amended provisions relating to the cashing
out of annual leave and parental leave.
Our three Employee Collective Agreements
have nominal expiry dates ranging from June
2010 to August 2010. We advised staff in
April that a range of issues, including an Equal
Remuneration case before Fair Work Australia
and a review of community sector industrial
arrangements, would have a bearing on the
nature and content of future Agreements.
Due to the delay in setting new agreements
and following consultation it was announced
that the current Agreements’ pattern of pay
increases would continue for July 2010 and
January 2011.
An electronic induction program was placed
on the intranet to provide new starters with a
first introduction to Communities@Work and
to complement more intensive local induction
programs.

58

|

Communities@Work Annual Report 2009–10

INFORMATION AND
COMMUNICATIONS
TECHNOLOGY
There were a number of major achievements
for the Information and Communications
Technology (ICT) team during the year.
We replaced the telephone and
communications system with new technology
using Voice over Internet capability. Costs
of communications were reduced as a
consequence with the underpinning of a new
contract with Telstra for fixed line and mobile
phone services.
Our business continuity capability was
improved with the introduction of new backup
standards, new protection software and
firewalls, fire proofing of the server room at the
Tuggeranong Community and Function Centre
and the provision of additional backup power
to server and external power capacity at the
Centre.

We recruited a data management expert to
develop user friendly data bases for a range
of programs including Volunteers, Professional
Support Coordinator/Inclusion Support Agency,
Respite Options ACT and the Tuggeranong 55
Plus Club. Our internet site was updated and
improved in areas such as OzHarvest Canberra
and online registrations.

Plan. All key initiatives were implemented
successfully. A plan for the next two years has
been developed to build on our capability to
service the growing needs of Communities@
Work. This is being complemented by a review
of our website strategy and the development
of a Customer Relationship Management
implementation plan.

New and upgraded storage area networks,
servers and replacement hardware and
software were deployed. Content filtering for six
sites was also added as well as the upgrading
of sites to join the Tuggeranong Community
and Function Centre domain. Better integration
of Google applications with our systems was
also achieved.

George Grunbaum
Executive Director

The need to support a large number of
infrastructure projects across our Child Care
and Education Centres and at the Tuggeranong
Community and Function Centre involved
significant calls on our ICT resources.
The year also marked the completion of the
implementation of our 2007–10 Strategic
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CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER’S REPORT

2009–10 has been a challenging year for the
Finance team. We have reviewed many of
our systems and processes with a view to
increasing efficiencies and strengthening our
capabilities.

•

As a result we:

This year we established the Financial
Management Network for the not for
profit sector in the ACT. This network was
established to provide senior managers and
finance professionals with a forum to exchange
ideas, share mutual challenges and benefit
from valuable professional development
opportunities. PricewaterhouseCoopers
sponsors the Network by providing a venue for
the meetings and expert presenters on topics
of interest to the group.

•

improved the financial reports provided to
the Executive and the Board of Directors,
enabling better informed and more timely
management decisions

•

modified processes for payment of
suppliers resulting in cost savings and a
payments system with greater integrity

•

revised our fleet management policy,
prescribing minimum safety and
environmental standards and moving from
leased to owned vehicles, resulting in
substantial savings over a three year period

•
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focused on cross training Finance staff
so that all members of the team have
an understanding of all aspects of our
financial operations. This has enabled us
to provide greater assistance to each other
during busy times and cover absences in a
more effective manner. The cross training
will continue into the 2010–11 financial
year

Communities@Work Annual Report 2009–10

undertook a minor functional restructure,
moving Payroll from Human Resources
to Finance, thus improving efficiency by
providing backup assistance for payroll
processing.

I thank the staff of the Finance team for their
efforts in 2009-10 and their willingness to
contribute to and implement the changes we
have made. I look forward to continuing the
process of change and further strengthening
our financial capacity over the coming year.

Communities@Work finance team

Samantha Brady
Chief Financial Officer

Chief Financial Officer’s Report
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Communities@Work

Communities@Work

ABN 19 125 799 859

ABN 19 125 799 859

Directors' Report

Directors' Report

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

Your directors present their report on the company for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

1.

1.

General information continued

General information

Principal Activities continued

Directors

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the financial year.
2.

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:
Names
Position
John Turner
Director, Chairman
Alexander (John) Turner
Director
Archie Tsirimokos
Director
Maureen Cane
Director, Company Secretary
Michael Sullivan
Director
Alan Hodges
Director
Clinton White
Director
Jill Robilliard
Director
Lynne Harwood
Director

Business review
Operating Results
The profit after providing for income tax amounted to $ 110,899.
Dividends Paid or Declared
The constitution prohibits the payment of dividends to members of the company. No dividends were paid or
declared since the start of the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made.

3.

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise
stated.
Company Secretary

Other items
Significant Changes in State of Affairs
No significant changes in the company's state of affairs occurred during the financial year.
After Balance Date Events

The following person held the position of company secretary at the end of the financial year:

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations of the company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of
the company in future financial years.

Maureen Cane - Company Secretary / Chief Executive Officer
Maureen Cane has been the Chief Executive Officer of Communities@Work (as the incorporated association
and current company structure) for nine years. She holds a Master of Arts Degree from Oxford University
and a Graduate Certificate in Public Health from The Flinders University of South Australia. Maureen's
career includes over 15 years in senior management positions in the Australian Public Service and the ACT
Public Service, including Chief Executive of the Department of Public Administration and as the first
Commissioner for Public Administration in the ACT. She has twelve years' experience working in senior
management positions in the community sector.

Future Developments and Review of Operations
The company expects to maintain the present status and level of operations and hence there are no likely
developments in the company's operations that will significantly affect the company in the coming year.
Environmental Issues
The company's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the
Commonwealth or of a state or territory.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of Communities@Work during the financial year were:

Auditor's Independence Declaration

- To provide community services to youth, aged persons, the disabled, volunteers, families and a community
development program;
- To operate an advisory program to the children's services industries in the ACT regarding the inclusion of
children with disabilities or with diverse cultural or indigenous backgrounds into mainstream services;

The auditor's independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2010 has been received and can be
found on page 6 of the financial report.

- To provide training through the NuSkills Learning and Development program; and
- To provide children's service programs including early childhood services, family day care and school age
care.

2
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Directors' Report

Directors' Report

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

Director Information
Information on Directors
John Turner
Experience

Alexander (John) Turner
Experience

Archie Tsirimokos
Experience

Maureen Cane
Experience

Director Information continued

Alan Hodges
Experience

Director
John Turner worked as a Forester with the NSW Forestry Commission and
ACT Forests, before turning to information technology, an area in which he
stayed for some 27 years in the ACT Government. John has a Bachelor of
Science (Forestry) from the Australian National University. Following his
retirement, one of his recent projects involved providing administrative support
to legal teams involved with the Coronial Inquiry into the 2003 firestorm.

Director
Alan Hodges served for 38 years in the Australian Army with postings in most
Australian States and overseas. After retiring from the Army he was
Director-General Emergency Management Australia for five years. Alan
currently conducts a consultancy business, working with both government and
private enterprise. Alan is a civil engineer and also has degrees in commerce
and economics.

Clinton White
Experience

Director
Clinton White has a background in business, accounting, administration and
management in both the public and private sectors and has an active
involvement in the arts and community sectors. Clinton has a Bachelor of Arts
(Accounting) and is a Certified Practising Accountant. Clinton is a senior
advisor to Vicki Dunne MLA, a member of the ACT Legislative Assembly. In
2003, Clinton was awarded the Centenary Medal for his work with Australian
Business Limited and his volunteer work with ArtSound FM community radio.

Jill Robilliard
Experience

Director
Jill Robilliard is a partner in a management consultancy business mainly
providing project management services to the Department of Defence. Jill has
a Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering and a Diploma of Education.

Lynne Harwood
Experience

Director
Lynne Harwood holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree and is a Certified
Practicing Accountant. She worked as a Taxation and Business Services
Accountant for several accounting firms, in three different states over a 14 year
period. Lynne then moved into the community sector and held the position of
CEO of Home Help Service ACT Inc for 5 ½ years, before taking on a new role
as CEO of Galilee Inc in August 2009. Galilee is a community sector
organisation that supports disadvantaged children and youth.

Director
Archie Tsirimokos is the managing partner for Meyer Vandenberg Lawyers.
This company is the largest independent legal firm in the ACT. Archie has a
Bachelor of Laws (with honours) from the Australian National University and
was admitted to practice in 1986. He has wide experience in the negotiation
and delivery of complex commercial projects, including negotiation of financing
and security arrangements.
Director, Company Secretary
Maureen Cane has been the Chief Executive Officer of Communities@Work
(as the incorporated association and current company structure) for nine years.
She holds a Master of Arts Degree from Oxford University and a Graduate
Certificate in Public Health from The Flinders University of South Australia.
Maureen's career includes over 15 years in senior management positions in
the Australian Public Service and the ACT Public Service, including Chief
Executive of the Department of Public Administration and as the first
Commissioner for Public Administration in the ACT. She has twelve years'
experience working in senior management positions in the community sector.

3
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Information on Directors continued
Michael Sullivan
Director
Experience
Mike Sullivan has had a thirty year career in the Commonwealth, ACT
Government, NSW Local Government and the private sector. Most positions
have involved engineering and building construction and facilities
management. Mike has a Bachelor of Civil Engineering from the University of
Sydney.

Director, Chairman
John Turner had a 40-year career in senior management in Commonwealth
and ACT Government administration, culminating in the position of Chief
Executive of the ACT Department of Urban Services. His responsibilities
included the ACTION bus service, public housing, and health, community and
welfare services. He reached Deputy Secretary level in the Commonwealth.
John has been a member of many government and community boards,
including ACTEW and Totalcare and he is currently chairman of ACT Cricket.
He is in his sixth year as Chair of the Board of Directors of Communities@Work
(as the incorporated association and current company structure).

Communities@Work Annual Report 2009–10
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Communities@Work
ABN 19 125 799 859

Directors' Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010
Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, 11 meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director during the year
were as follows:
Directors'
Meetings

Auditors Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
To the directors of Communities@Work

Eligible to Number
attend
attended

John Turner
Alexander (John) Turner
Archie Tsirimokos
Maureen Cane
Michael Sullivan
Alan Hodges
Clinton White
Jill Robilliard
Lynne Harwood

11
11
11
11
11
11
11
11
11

10
9
8
11
10
9
5
7
9

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2010 there have been:
(i)

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
Hardwicke's
Chartered Accountants

Indemnifying Officers or Auditors
No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial year, for
any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of Communities@Work with the exception of the following
matter.
During the financial year the company has paid premiums to insure each of the directors against liabilities for
costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while
acting in the capacity of director of the company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation
to the company. In accordance with normal commercial practices, under the terms of the insurance contract,
the nature of the liabilities insured against and the amount of premiums paid are confidential.
Proceedings on Behalf of Company

Robert Johnson FCA
Partner
20 August 2010

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company
for all or any part of those proceedings. The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the
year.

Canberra

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Director: ...............................................................
John Turner
Dated 20 August 2010
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

As At 30 June 2010
2010

2009

$

$

Note

2010

2009

$

$

Note
ASSETS

Revenue

11

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Employee benefits expense
Other expenses

21,590,741

19,882,845

(92,287)
(36,861)
(13,685,053) (12,530,281)
(7,702,502) (6,894,283)

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

110,899
-

421,420
-

Profit for the year

110,899

421,420

Total comprehensive income for the year

110,899

421,420

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other assets

2
3
4
5

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

1,003,732
822,415
3,080,718
129,035

1,776,936
518,124
3,281,098
16,460

5,035,900

5,592,618

1,000
572,119
75,735

220,236
89,045

4
6
7

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

648,854

309,281

5,684,754

5,901,899

3,095,097

3,467,892

3,095,097

3,467,892

245,217

200,466

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

8

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other long-term provisions

9

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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200,466

3,340,314

3,668,358

NET ASSETS

2,344,440

2,233,541

EQUITY
Retained earnings

2,344,440

2,233,541

TOTAL EQUITY

2,344,440

2,233,541

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010
2010

Note
Balance at 1 July 2009
Profit attributable to members

Retained
Earnings
$
2,233,541
110,899

Sub-total
Balance at 30 June 2010

2010

2009

$

$

Note
Total
$
2,233,541
110,899

110,899

110,899

2,344,440

2,344,440

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers
Operating grants receipts
Other receipts
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

11,262,077
10,595,923
6,135,714
6,433,120
3,831,565
3,041,367
(21,939,555) (19,960,721)
162,557
319,599
15(b)

(547,642)

429,288

23,446
199,380
(443,828)
(4,560)
-

10,000
(177,591)
(89,045)
(1,111,081)

2009

Note
Balance at 1 July 2008
Profit attributable to members

Retained
Earnings
$
1,812,121
421,420
421,420

421,420

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangibles
Purchase of investments

2,233,541

2,233,541

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(225,562)

(1,367,717)

Net increase (decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year

(773,204)
1,776,936

(938,429)
2,715,365

1,003,732

1,776,936

Sub-total
Balance at 30 June 2009

Total
$
1,812,121
421,420

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

1

1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a)

General Information

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
(e)

The financial report is for Communities@Work as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in
Australia. Communities@Work is a company limited by guarantee.

The company receives grant monies to fund projects either for contracted periods of time or for specific
projects irrespective of the period of time required to complete those projects. It is the policy of the
company to treat grant monies as unexpended grants in the statement of financial position where the
company is contractually obliged to provide the services in a subsequent financial period to when the
grant is received or in the case of specific project grants where the project has not been completed.

It is a company that has otherwise been authorised by ASIC to omit the word ‘Limited’ from its name
under Section 150 of the Corporations Act 2001.
(b)

(f)

Basis of Preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act
2001.

Unexpended grants

Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Plant and equipment

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result
in a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and
conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are presented
below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

(c)

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs modified,
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and
financial liabilities.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the
basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets employment and subsequent
disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining
recoverable amounts.

Accounting Policies

Depreciation

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset's
useful life to the company commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held-at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.
(d)

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

Revenue and Other Income
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the
customers. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of goods to customers.
Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the company obtains
control of the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the
company and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. If conditions are attached to the grant
which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the contribution, the recognition of the grant as
revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.
Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. Interest revenue is recognised
using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate financial assets, is the rate inherent in
the instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been
established.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of Fixed Asset
Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Reference library

20 - 33%
13 - 15%
20%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.
An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.
These gains and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

11
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

1

1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
(g)

Impairment of Assets

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
(l)

At each reporting date, the company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell
and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying value
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income.

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the
asset, but not the legal ownership that are transferred to the company are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Leased assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that the company will obtain
ownership of the asset. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and
the lease interest expense for the period.

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset's ability to
generate net cash inflows and when the company would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining
future economic benefits, value in use is determined on the depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the
lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight line basis over the life of the lease term. Lease incentives
under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life
of the lease term.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
(h)

(m)

Intangibles

Software is recorded at cost. Software has a finite life and is carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. It has an estimated useful life of five years. It is assessed annually
for impairment.

(k)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
(o)

Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be
reliably measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required to settle
the obligation at reporting date.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the
company commits itself to either purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs, except where the
instrument is classified 'at fair value through profit or loss', in which case transaction costs are
expensed to profit or loss immediately.

Trade and other payables

13

|

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Provisions

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods
and services received by the company during the reporting period which remain unpaid. The balance is
recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the
liability.

74

(n)

Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by
employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits expected to be settled within one
year together with benefits arising from wages, salaries and leave entitlements which may be settled
after one year, have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Contributions are made by the company to employee superannuation funds and are charged as
expenses when incurred.

(j)

Income Tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the company is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

Software

(i)

Leases

Communities@Work Annual Report 2009–10

Classification and subsequent measurement
Finance instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, or cost. Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices
in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are
adopted.
14
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1

1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
(o)

Financial Instruments continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
(o)

Amortised cost is calculated as:

They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor
fixed or determinable payments.

•

the amount in which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition;

•

less principal repayments;

(v)

•

plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially
recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method; and

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

•

less any reduction for impairment.

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques
are applied to determine fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm's length transactions
and reference to similar instruments.
Impairment
At each reporting date, the company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged
decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The company does not designate any interest as being subject to the requirements of accounting
standards specifically applicable to financial instruments.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Derecognition

Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ when they are either held for trading
for the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a
group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss.
(ii)

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the
asset is transferred to another party whereby the company no longer has any significant continuing
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of
consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is recognised in
profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(p)

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments, and it is company's intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost.
(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be
classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by
management.

15
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Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to
changes in presentation for the current financial year. When the company applies an accounting policy
retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement or reclassifies items in its financial statements, a
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period will be disclosed.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

|

Financial liabilities

Fair value

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
(including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when
this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will
necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or
expense in profit or loss.
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Financial Instruments continued

(q)

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally
and within the company.
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1

1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
(q)

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments continued

(s)

Key estimates - Impairment
The company assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the
company that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are
reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.
(r)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods
The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The company has decided against early
adoption of these standards. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the
company is as follows:

During the current year the company adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations applicable to its operations which became mandatory. The adoption of
these standards has impacted the recognition, measurement and disclosure of certain transactions.
The following is an explanation of the impact the adoption of these standards and interpretations has
had on the financial statements of Communities@Work.

These standards are applicable retrospectively and amend the classification and measurement
of financial assets. The company has not yet determined the potential impact on the financial
statements.

AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements

The changes made to accounting requirements include:

In September 2007 the Australian Accounting Standards Board revised AASB 101 and as a result,
there have been changes to the presentation and disclosure of certain information within the financial
statements. Below is an overview of the key changes and the impact on the company's financial
statements.

−

simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and
those carried at fair value;

−

simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives;

Disclosure impact

−

removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets;

Terminology changes - The revised version of AASB 101 contains a number of terminology changes,
including the amendment of the names of the primary financial statements.

−

removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial
assets carried at amortised cost;

−

allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive
income. Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return on investment can
be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the
instrument; and

−

reclassifying financial assets where there is a change in an entity's business model as
they are initially classified based on: (a) the objective of the entity's business model for
managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows.

Reporting changes in equity - The revised AASB 101 requires all changes in equity arising from
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners to be presented separately from non-owner
changes in equity. Owner changes in equity are to be presented in the statement of changes in equity,
with non-owner changes in equity presented in the statement of comprehensive income. The previous
version of AASB 101 required that owner changes in equity and other comprehensive income be
presented in the statement of changes in equity.
Statement of comprehensive income - The revised AASB 101 requires all income and expenses to be
presented in either one statement, the statement of comprehensive income, or two statements, a
separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income. The previous version of AASB
101 required only the presentation of a single income statement. The company's financial statements
now contain a statement of comprehensive income.
Other comprehensive income - The revised version of AASB 101 introduces the concept of 'other
comprehensive income' which comprises of income and expenses that are not recognised in profit or
loss as required by other Australian Accounting Standards. Items of other comprehensive income are
to be disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income. The previous version of AASB 101 did not
contain an equivalent concept.

17
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AASB 9: Financial instruments and AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128,
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12] (applicable for annual reporting
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013).

•

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards

Communities@Work Annual Report 2009–10

•

AASB 2009-4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project [AASB 2 and AASB 138 and AASB Interpretations 9 & 16] (applicable
for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2009) and AASB 2009-5: Further
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements
Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 & 139] (applicable for annual reporting periods
commencing from 1 January 2010).
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1

3

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
(s)

New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods continued

Trade and other receivables continued
(b)

These standards detail numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to accounting standards
arising from IASB's annual improvements project. No changes are expected to materially affect
the company.

The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of
receivables. The following table details the company's trade and other receivables exposed to credit
risk (prior to collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided
for thereon. Amounts are considered as 'past due' when the debt has not been settled, with the terms
and conditions agreed between the company and the customer or counter party to the transaction.
Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and
are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid
to the company. The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the
table) are considered to be of high credit quality.

The company does not anticipate early adoption of any of the above accounting standards.
2

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Note
CURRENT
Cash on hand
Cash at bank

3

2010

2009

$

$

5,905
997,827

6,860
1,770,076

1,003,732

1,776,936

Trade and other receivables

Note

3(a)

Total current trade receivables
(a)

2010

2009

$

$

Trade and other receivables

912,415
(90,000)

719,166
(201,042)

822,415

518,124

61-90

> 90

$

$

$

912,415

568,667

74,491

187,449

81,808

719,166

375,446

59,187

284,533

-

Other Financial Assets
Note
CURRENT
Held-to-maturity financial assets

4(a)

Total Current Assets
NON-CURRENT
Available for sale financial assets

$
Provision for impairment as at 30 June 2008
Charge for year

21,042
180,000

Provision for impairment as at 30 June 2009
Written off

201,042
(111,042)

Provision for impairment as at 30 June 2010

90,000

2010

2009

$

$

3,080,718

3,281,098

3,080,718

3,281,098

4(b)

Total Non Current Assets
(a)

1,000

-

1,000

-

Held-to-maturity Investments comprise:
2010
Note
Fixed interest securities - current

19
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31-60

$

The company does not hold any financial assets with terms that have been renegotiated, but which
would otherwise be past due or impaired. There are no balances within trade receivables that contain
assets that are not impaired and are past due. It is expected that these balances will be received
when due.
4

Provision for Impairment of Receivables

Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:

|

< 30

$

2009

Current trade receivables are generally on 30-day terms. These receivables are assessed for
recoverability and a provision for impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence that an
individual trade receivable is impaired. These amounts have been included in other expense items.

80

Gross
amount
2010

Trade and other receivables

CURRENT
Trade receivables
Provision for impairment

Credit risk - Trade and Other Receivables

16

$

2009
$

3,080,718

3,281,098

3,080,718

3,281,098
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4

6

Other Financial Assets continued
(b)

Non-current available-for-sale financials assets comprise:

(a)
Note

Unlisted investments, at cost
Shares in other corporations

Property, Plant and Equipment continued

2010

2009

$

$

16

Total available-for-sale financial assets

1,000

-

1,000

-

Movements in Carrying Amounts continued

Balance at the beginning of year
Additions
Disposals - written down value
Depreciation expense

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in the ordinary issued capital. There are no fixed
returns or fixed maturity date attached to these investments.

Carrying amount at the end of 30 June 2010

5

Other Assets
Note
CURRENT
Prepayments

6

2010

2009

$

$

Balance at the beginning of year
Additions
Depreciation expense

129,035

16,460

129,035

16,460

Carrying amount at the end of 30 June 2009

7

Note

2009

$

$

Computer software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

431,773
(297,883)

289,548
(278,902)

Total furniture and equipment

133,890

10,646

Motor vehicles
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

531,909
(93,680)

263,832
(54,242)

Total motor vehicles

438,229

209,590

Reference library
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total reference library
Total property, plant and equipment
(a)

30,369
(30,369)
572,119

30,369
(30,369)
220,236

Total
$
220,236
443,828
(17,528)
(74,417)

133,890

438,229

-

572,119

19,368
(8,722)

60,139
177,590
(28,139)

-

79,507
177,590
(36,861)

10,646

209,590

-

220,236

-

Note
2010

Reference
library
$
-

Intangible Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment

Furniture and equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Furniture and
equipment Motor vehicles
$
$
209,590
10,646
142,225
301,603
(17,528)
(18,981)
(55,436)

Net carrying value

2010

2009

$

$

93,605
(17,870)

89,045
-

75,735

89,045

Computer
software
$

Total
$

Year ended 30 June 2009
Additions

89,045

89,045

Balance at 30 June 2009

89,045

89,045

89,045
4,560
(17,870)

89,045
4,560
(17,870)

75,735

75,735

Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening balance
Additions
Amortisation
Balance at 30 June 2010

Movements in Carrying Amounts
Movement in the carrying amount for each class of property, plant and equipment between the
beginning and the end of the current financial year:
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8

Trade and other payables

10 Capital and Leasing Commitments
Note

CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities
Trade payables and accrued expenses
Grants received in advance
Short-term employee benefits

(a)

2009

$

$

Operating Lease Commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements:

732,941
1,091,973
1,270,183

653,066
1,661,388
1,153,438

3,095,097

3,467,892

Note
Payable - minimum lease payments:
- not later than 12 months
- between 12 months and 5 years

Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as trade and other payables
Note
Trade and other payables
- Total Current
Less:
Leave entitlements
Amounts received in advance
Financial liabilities as trade and other payables

9

2010

16

2010

2009

$

$

3,095,097

3,467,892

(1,270,183)
(1,091,973)

(1,153,438)
(1,661,388)

732,941

653,066

Provisions
Note
NON-CURRENT
Long-term employee benefits

Opening balance at 1 July 2009
Additional provisions
Balance at 30 June 2010

2010

2009

$

$

245,217

200,466

245,217

200,466

Employee
entitlements
$
200,466
44,751

Total
$
200,466
44,751

245,217

245,217

2010

2009

$

$

36,034
47,384

113,007
52,642

83,418

165,649

The photocopier leases are typically non-cancellable leases with five-year terms, with rent payable monthly in
advance. Vehicle leases are typically non-cancellable leases with two-three year terms with rent payable
monthly in arrears.
11 Revenue and Other Income
Note

2010

2009

$

$

Revenue
- provision of services
- operating grants
- other sources

11,489,212
6,095,572
3,837,482

10,450,006
6,061,873
3,041,367

Total revenue

21,422,266

19,553,246

Other revenue
- interest received

162,557

319,599

Total other revenue

162,557

319,599

Other income
- gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

5,918

10,000

Total other income

5,918

10,000

21,590,741

19,882,845

Total revenue and other income

A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. The
measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits have been included in Note 1 to this
report.
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12 Profit for the Year

15 Cash Flow Information

Expenses

(a)
Note

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Bad and doubtful debts
Rental expense on operating leases
minimum lease payments

2010

2009

$

$

36,861

(73,899)

211,693

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of
cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement of financial
position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents

39,708

2009

$

$

2

1,003,732

1,776,936

1,003,732

1,776,936

176,385
(b)

Audit Remuneration
auditing or reviewing the financial report

2010
Note

92,287

84,952

Reconciliation of cash

Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax

22,003
2010

13 Key Management Personnel Compensation

Note
Profit for the year
Post
Short-term employment
benefits
benefit
$
$

2010
Total compensation

493,685

2009
Total compensation

14,570

42,926
-

Other
long-term
benefits
$

Non-cash flows in profit
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of receivables
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Total
$

-

536,611

-

14,570

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

14 Members' Guarantee

Cashflow from operations
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the
company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $ 20
each towards meeting any outstandings and obligations of the company. At 30 June 2010 the number of
members was 1 (2009: 1).

(c)

$

2009
$

110,899

421,420

92,287
(111,042)
(5,918)

36,861
180,000
(10,000)

(193,249)
(112,575)
(372,795)
44,751

(157,216)
23,957
(66,981)
1,247

(547,642)

429,288

Credit Standby Arrangements with Banks
The company has no credit stand-by or financing facilities in place.

(d)

Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities
There were no non-cash financing or investing activities during the year.
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16 Financial Risk Management

16 Financial Risk Management continued

The company's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments,
short-term and long-term investments, accounts receivable and payable and leases.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in
the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:
2010
2009
Note
$
$
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Held-to-maturity investments
Fixed interest securities
Trade and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Shares in other corporations

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade payables and accrued expenses

2

1,003,732

1,776,936

4
3

3,080,718
822,415

3,281,098
518,124

4

1,000

8

-

4,907,865

5,576,158

732,941

653,066

732,941

653,066

(b)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the company might encounter difficulty in settling its debts
or otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The company manages risk through
the following mechanisms:
•

preparing forward looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and
financial activities

•

maintaining a reputable credit risk profile

•

managing credit risk related to financial assets

•

investing only in surplus cash with major financial institutions

•

comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial
assets

The tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. Cash
flows realised from financial assets reflect management's expectation as to the timing of realisation.
Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in the table
to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates.
Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis

Financial Risk Management Policies
Within 1 Year

The directors’ risk management strategy seeks to assist the company in meeting its financial targets whilst
minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management policies are approved and
reviewed by the finance committee on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and future cash flow
requirements.
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The main risks the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and credit risk.
(a)

Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at reporting
date whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate
financial instruments. The company is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments.
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2010
$
Financial liabilities due
for payment
Trade and other payables
(excluding estimated
leave & grants received
in advance)
Total contractual outflows
Total expected outflows
Financial assets - cash
flows realisable
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade, term and loans
receivables

Total Contractual
Cash Flow

1 to 5 Years

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

732,941

653,066

-

-

732,941

653,066

732,941

653,066

-

-

732,941

653,066

732,941

653,066

-

-

732,941

653,066

1,003,732

1,776,936

-

-

1,003,732

1,776,936

822,415

518,124

-

-

822,415

518,124

-

-

-

1,000

Available-for-sale
investments
Held-to-maturity
investments

3,080,718

3,281,098

-

3,080,718

3,281,098

Total anticipated inflows

4,906,865

5,576,158

1,000

-

4,907,865

5,576,158

Net (outflow)/inflow on
financial instruments

4,173,924

4,923,092

1,000

-

4,174,924

4,923,092

1,000
-

-
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16 Financial Risk Management continued

16 Financial Risk Management continued

(c)

Credit risk

Net Fair Values

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counter
parties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the company.

Fair value estimation

Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures ensuring to the extent possible, that
customers and counter parties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness. Such monitoring is
used in assessing receivables for impairment. Credit terms are generally 30 days from the invoice
date.
Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit
rating.
Credit Risk Exposures
The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at balance date, excluding
the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying value and classification of
those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position.
The company has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of
counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of Trade and Other Receivables are provided in Note
3.
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due or impaired are considered to be of high credit
quality. Aggregates of such amounts are as detailed at Note 3.
Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the finance
committee in accordance with approved Board policy. The following table provides information
regarding credit risk relating to cash and money market securities based on Standard & Poor’s counter
party credit ratings.
Note
Cash and cash equivalents
- AA Rated
- BBB Rated
Held-to-maturity securities
- AA Rated
- BBB Rated

2
2

4
4

2010

2009

$

$

441,121
556,706

618,954
1,151,122

997,827

1,770,076

59,423
3,021,295

57,384
3,223,714

3,080,718

3,281,098

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying values as presented in the
statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. Fair values are those amounts at which
an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction.
Fair values derived may be based on information that is estimated or subject to judgment, where changes in
assumptions may have a material impact on the amounts estimated. Areas of judgment and the assumptions
have been detailed below.
Differences between fair values and carrying values of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are due
to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the company.
Most of these instruments which are carried at amortised cost are to be held until maturity and therefore the
net fair value figures calculated bear little relevance to the company.
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities as disclosed in the statement of financial position and
in the notes to the financial statements have been determined based on the following methodologies: Cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are short-term instruments in
nature whose carrying value is equivalent to fair value. Trade and other payables exclude amounts provided
for relating to leave entitlements and grants received in advance which are not considered to be financial
instruments.
Sensitivity Analysis
The following table illustrates sensitivities to the company's exposures to changes in interest rates. The table
indicates the impact on how profit and equity values reported at balance date would have been affected by
changes in the relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonable possible. These
sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables.

Profit
$
Year Ended 30 June 2010
+/-2% in interest rates
Year Ended 30 June 2009
+/-2% in interest rates

80,000

Equity
$
80,000

100,000 100,000

17 Capital Management
Management control the capital of the company to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to fund its
operations and that returns from investments are maximised. The finance committee ensures that the overall
risk management strategy is in line with this objective.
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Directors' Declaration

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

The directors of the company declare that:

17 Capital Management continued

1.

The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 7 to 31, are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001 and:

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the board of directors. Risk management policies
are approved and reviewed by the board on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and future cash
flow requirements.

(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards; and

The company’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of the performance for the year
ended on that date of the company.

Management effectively manage the company’s capital by assessing the company’s financial risks and
responding to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses may include the consideration of
debt levels. There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

2.

In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.
There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the company
since the previous year. This strategy is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet trade and other
payables.
Director ..................................................................
John Turner

The gearing ratios for the year ended 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009 are as follows:

Note
Total borrowings
Less Cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Equity
Total capital
Gearing ratio

2

2010

2009

$

$

Dated 20 August 2010

(1,003,732)

(1,776,936)

(1,003,732)
2,344,440

(1,776,936)
2,233,541

1,340,708

456,605

-

%

-

%

18 Company Details
The registered office of the company is:
Communities@Work
Tuggeranong Community Centre
245 Cowlishaw Street
Greenway ACT 2900
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Communities@Work

Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Communities@Work

Report on the Financial Report

Independence

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Communities@Work (the company), which comprises the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant
accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors' declaration.

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor's Opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of Communities@Work is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

(i)

giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance
for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
Hardwicke's
Chartered Accountants

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company's preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Robert Johnson FCA
Partner

Canberra
20 August 2010
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APPENDIX A:

COMMUNITIES@WORK BOARD OF DIRECTORS
2009–10

The Communities@Work Board of Directors is comprised of eight community volunteer
members and the Chief Executive Officer. The Board’s standing committees are the
Board Executive Committee and the Finance and Audit Committee. Other committees are
established to oversight particular topics from time to time.
The Board meets twelve times a year and operates in accordance with its Corporate
Governance Charter.

CHAIR

John Turner (Public Officer)
John Turner had a 40-year career in senior management in Commonwealth
and ACT Government administration, culminating in the position of Chief
Executive of the ACT Department of Urban Services. His responsibilities
included the ACTION bus service, public housing, and health, community
and welfare services. He reached Deputy Secretary level in the
Commonwealth. John has been a member of many government and
community boards, including ACTEW and Totalcare, and Chairman of
ACT Cricket. He is in his sixth year as Chair of the Board of Directors of
Communities@Work.

DEPUTY CHAIR
Archie Tsirimokos

Archie Tsirimokos is the managing partner of Meyer Vandenberg Lawyers.
Meyer Vandenberg is the largest independent legal firm in the ACT.
Archie has a Bachelor of Laws (with honours) from the Australian National
University and was admitted to practice in 1986. He has wide experience
in the negotiation and delivery of complex commercial projects and
property transactions as well as the negotiation of financing and security
arrangements.
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CHAIR, FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
Alan Hodges AM

Alan Hodges served for many years in the Australian Army with postings
in most Australian States as well as overseas. After retiring from the Army
he was the Commonwealth’s Director-General Emergency Management
Australia for five years. Alan currently conducts a consultancy business,
working with both government and private enterprise, and is actively
involved on boards of a number of community organisations. Alan is a civil
engineer and also has degrees in commerce and economics.

COMPANY SECRETARY / CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Maureen Cane

Maureen Cane has been the Chief Executive Officer of Communities@
Work for nine years. She holds a Master of Arts Degree from Oxford
University and a Graduate Certificate in Public Health from The Flinders
University of South Australia. Maureen’s career includes over 15 years
in senior management positions in the Australian Public Service and the
ACT Public Service, including Chief Executive of the Department of Public
Administration and as the first Commissioner for Public Administration in
the ACT. She has twelve years’ experience working in senior management
positions in the community sector.

DIRECTORS
Alexander (John) Turner
John Turner worked as a Forester with the NSW Forestry Commission and
ACT Forests, before turning to information technology, an area in which he
stayed for some 27 years in the ACT Government. John has a Bachelor
of Science (Forestry) from the Australian National University. Following his
retirement, one of his recent projects involved providing administrative
support to legal teams involved with the Coronial Inquiry into the 2003
firestorm.

Clinton White
Clinton White has a background in business, accounting, administration
and management in both the public and private sectors and has an active
involvement in the arts and community sectors. Clinton has a Bachelor of
Arts (Accounting) and is a Certified Practising Accountant. In 2003, Clinton
was awarded the Centenary Medal for his work with Australian Business
Limited and his volunteer work with ArtSound FM community radio.

Lynne Harwood
Lynne Harwood holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree and is a Certified
Practicing Accountant. Lynne is the CEO of Galilee, a community based
not-for-profit organisation that addresses the immediate needs of children
and young people while also concentrating on prevention strategies. Prior
to being the CEO of Galilee, Lynne was the CEO of another community
organisation for five years. Lynne is very active within the community sector
being a member of many working groups and participating in many forums.

CHAIR, INFRASTRUCTURE AND ASSETS COMMITTEE

Mike Sullivan
Mike Sullivan has had a thirty year career in the Commonwealth, ACT
Government, NSW Local Government and the private sector. Most
positions have involved engineering and building construction and facilities
management. Mike has a Bachelor of Civil Engineering from the University
of Sydney.

Jill Robilliard
Jill Robilliard is a partner in a management consultancy business mainly
providing project management services to the Department of Defence. Jill
has a Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering and a Diploma of Education.
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TUGGERANONG CAMPUS

WESTON CAMPUS

Tuggeranong Community and Function Centre
245 Cowlishaw Street
GREENWAY ACT 2900

Weston Creek Community Centre
Parkinson Street
WESTON ACT 2611

P: (02) 6293 6500
F: (02) 6293 6555

P: (02) 6126 9000
F: (02) 6288 4241

PO Box 1066 Tuggeranong ACT 2901
www.commsatwork.org | admin@commsatwork.org

